
EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 

1 If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately. 
2 Follow the green signs. 
3 Use the stairs not the lifts. 
4 Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 
 

 
Contact: Amanda Roden 
Telephone: (01344) 352253 
Email: amanda.roden@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
Published: 13 March 2009 

 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

Local Countryside Access Forum 
Tuesday 24 March 2009, 7.00 pm 
Function Room, Fifth Floor, Easthampstead House, Town Square, 
Bracknell 

To: Local Countryside Access Forum 

Mrs Diana Pidgeon OBE (Chairman) 
Mr David Bertie, Councillor Michael Brossard, Mr Joe Dodson, Mr Mike Gates, Sharon Holt, Mr 
Innes McEwen, Mr Richard Mosses, Mr Peter Radband, Councillor Raymond Simonds, Mr 
Derick Stickler, Mr Stuart Tarrant, Miss Caroline Tomalin and Mr Michael Abbott 

 

ALISON SANDERS 
Director of Corporate Services 
 



 

 

Local Countryside Access Forum 
Tuesday 24 March 2009, 7.00 pm 
Function Room, Fifth Floor, Easthampstead House, Town 
Square, Bracknell 

AGENDA 
 
 Page No 

1. Welcome and Apologies   

2. Minutes of Last Meeting and Matters Arising  1 - 6 

3. National and Regional Access Forums  7 - 8 

4. Definitive Map - review, diversions and creations   

5. Rights of Way Improvement Plan   

6. Greenspace Strategy  9 - 86 

7. Interpretation and Marketing (including LCAF Annual Report)   

8. Thames Basin Heaths Access Management Partnership   

9. Reports from Members around the Table   

10. Site Visits   

11. Any Other Business   

12. Public Question Time   

 (Maximum 10 Minutes)  
 

 

13. Date of Next Meeting   

 Potential dates for the next meeting of the Local Countryside Access 
Forum: 
Tuesday 22 September 2009, 7pm-9pm 
Tuesday 29 September 2009, 7pm-9pm 
 
  
 

 

 



LOCAL COUNTRYSIDE ACCESS FORUM 
30 SEPTEMBER 2008 
7.00  - 9.00 PM 

  

 
Present: 
Statutory Board Members: 
Mrs Diana Pidgeon OBE (Chairman) 
Mr David Bertie 
Councillor Michael Brossard 
Mr Joe Dodson 
Mr Mike Gates 
Ms Sharon Holt 
Mr Innes McEwen 
Mr Richard Mosses 
Mr Peter Radband 
Councillor Raymond Simonds 
Mr Derick Stickler 
 
In attendance: 
Sally Coulson, Parks & Countryside Projects Officer 
Richard Walton, Parks & Countryside Manager 
Priya Patel, Democratic Services Officer 
 
Observers: 
Mr Mike Abbott 
 
Apologies for absence were received from: 
Mr Stuart Tarrant 
Miss Caroline Tomalin 
 
 
 
23. Election of Chairman  

 
On the proposition of Councillor Raymond Simonds, seconded by Councillor Michael 
Brossard it was agreed that Mrs Diana Pidgeon be elected as Chairman of the Forum 
for a period of three years. 
 
Members thanked Mrs Pidgeon for all the work she had done for the Forum and were 
pleased that she would be chairing the Forum over the next three years.   
 

24. Appointment of Vice-Chairman  
 
On the proposition of Mrs Diana Pidgeon, seconded by Derick Stickler it was agreed 
that Mr Mike Gates be appointed as Vice-Chairman of the Forum for a period of three 
years. 
 

25. Welcome  
 

Agenda Item 2

1



 

The Chairman welcomed all members to the Forum and in particular welcomed Mr 
Mike Abbott who was attending as an observer and was a member of the Ramblers’ 
Association.  
 
The Chairman also notified the Forum that Mrs Celia Blay and Mrs Anne Haydon had 
both resigned from the Forum as they were moving away from the area. She 
expressed her thanks to both of them for their work and commitment during their 
membership of the Forum. 
 
It was also reported that James Dymond had taken up a new post and no longer 
worked for Bracknell Forest, the Chairman expressed her thanks for all the hard work 
he had carried out for the Forum. 
 

26. Minutes of Last Meeting and Matters Arising  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 1 April 2008 were approved as a correct record. 
 
Matters Arising 
 
Minute 18, Rights of Way Improvement Plan 
It was reported that the land relating to the proposed Winkfield bridleway creation 
was currently being acquired by a new person.  Contact had been established by 
officers with the proposed purchaser. 
 
Minute 21, Rights of Way Closures to Pylon Works 
It was reported that these pathways were due to reopen at the beginning of October 
2008. Work seemed to operate smoothly, no complaints had been received. Paths 
were only closed if absolutely necessary. 
 
It was reported that both the Blackwater Valley and Love Parks week had both been 
hugely successful events. 
 

27. National and Regional Local Countryside Access Forum  Work  
 
It was reported that Richard Mosses had agreed to attend the meeting of LCAF 
representatives from the South East on behalf of the Forum in London on 6 October 
2008.  Discussions regarding nominations of representatives on the England Access 
Forum (EAF) were due to take place at this meeting. 
 

28. Thames Basin Heath Access Management Partnership  
 
It was reported that the Forum had received updates on this item over the last few 
meetings and consideration was being given as to how recreational activity in this 
area could be balanced with the need to protect biodiversity. It was noted that 
Bracknell Forest Council had a legal duty to ensure that they were not implementing 
plans or actions that could have a negative impact on wildlife. 
 
One of the main demands on the Thames Basin Heath area was increased housing 
which in turn would lead to increased recreational activity. This needed to be 
balanced with the wildlife in the area, in particular the ground nesting birds Dartford 
Warbler, Nightjar and Woodlark. 
 
It was reported that the Access Management Partnership was becoming more 
established. It had a diverse membership and was led by Natural England. Its main 
focus was on strategic co-ordination and on-site wardening.  
 

2



 

A report was being drafted to look at the role of Natural England in strategic co-
ordination and Natural England had indicated that they would take on a positive 
central role in the future. In terms of on-site wardening, it was felt that this should be 
led by existing organisations. The focus would be on supporting existing 
mechanisms. A first draft of the report would be available by the end of October 2008.    
 

29. Rights of Way Improvement Plan  
 
It was reported that lots of work had been done on this Plan and that Bracknell Forest 
were one of the first areas to produce an approved strategy. The Forum had been 
central to this work. The Plan could be viewed on line on the Council’s website and 
hard copies were also available on request.  
 
It was agreed that if members had any future suggestions of areas in the Borough 
where improvements could be made to roads, grass verges or bridleways that 
members should contact Sally Coulson. 
 
Future Projects 
 

• Larks Hill link to bridle path network – work was in progress to create a 
permissive path at Priory Field.  

• Breathing Spaces, Scott’s Hill -  a group of active residents had successfully 
secured lottery funding for improvement works in a green area that had 
housing backed onto it and was blighted by fly tipping.  

• Northern access to Caesars Camp– 80% funding had been secured. 

• Wildmoor Heath projects- The majority of work regarding path 
refurbishments, habitat improvements and interpretation had been 
completed and remaining work, particularly to the boardwalk, needed to be 
carried out in dry weather. Will be covered further in item 10. 

 
30. Greenspace Strategy  

 
It was reported that the strategy was currently in draft form and would now be the 
subject of a consultation exercise. The Strategy would work towards protecting and 
making the best use of the greenspaces in the Borough. Key themes were quantity, 
quality and use.  
 
Consultation would include internal and external partners and all bodies who were 
involved in the management or protection of green spaces. 
 
It was noted that the strategy related to many wider agendas, for example, health. 
 
It was noted that the Borough had one of the best locations for mountain biking in the 
Country and that this should be acknowledged in strategies and plans. 
 
Members noted that on the former Met Office site, a rare blue grass had been found. 
Officers stated that they would look into this. 

(ACTION: Richard Walton) 
 

31. Interpretation and Marketing  
 
The final proof for the information boards at Wildmoor Heath was presented to the 
Forum and it was reported that the information was also available in a leaflet 
produced by the Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust and on 

3



 

the Council’s website. Information boards and signage were due to be installed by the 
end of October (weather dependent). 
 
It was reported that whilst specific provision for visually impaired people was not 
included on site at Wildmoor, it was proposed at other sites such as Clinton’s Hill in 
the form of engraved and raised carved wood illustrations/ maps and other formats. 
The Council’s Parks & Countryside Service leaflet range was also available in other 
languages, large print, Braille or on audio tape on request. 
 
Members were shown the final proof for the new over arching parks and countryside 
leaflet, one of the first leaflets to be produced as part of the Parks & Countryside 
Service’s new look ‘Discover’ leaflet range. Members queried whether this leaflet 
could be sent out with the next edition of Town & Country, officers agreed to consider 
this. Copies of the new parks and countryside events programme were also 
circulated. 

(ACTION: Sally Coulson) 
Members congratulated officers on this excellent work.   
 

32. Site Visits  
 

• Circular walk to discuss work at Lily Hill Park/Clinton’s Hill/Scotts Hill – to take 
place on Monday 27 October 2008 at 3pm. Members to meet at the main Lily 
Hill car park. 

(ACTION: Sally Coulson) 

• Ideas for potential visits led by members – Jocks Lane.   
 

33. Reports from Members Round the Table  
 

• David Bertie reported that fly tipping had been a particular problem in his 
area. Officers asked that he contact Sally Coulson about hotspots, in addition 
to reporting issues to the police. The information would be used by the 
Council to help prioritise preventative measures such as the use of mobile 
cameras. Councillor Mrs Hayes also did lots of work in this area and should 
be contacted for assistance. 

• Derick Stickler reported that work to the pipeline at Swinley Forest should be 
complete by Easter 2009. Replanting would commence on the swathe of 
affected land after this. 

• Sharon Holt reported that Cabbage Hill Lane had recently been resurfaced 
and was now dangerous for horses as it was slippery. It was also blighted by 
fly tipping and was misused by motorists as a ‘rat run’.  
 
Sharon also reported that following her recommendation, the Access 
Department at Bracknell Forest Council – in particular James Dymond and 
Hugh Fitzwilliams – had received certificates for the Good Guy award. This is 
one of the Riders Charter Awards, presented by BHS volunteers, staff and 
Affiliated Bridleways Groups to recognise good practice among individuals, 
groups and organisations who have made a contribution to equestrian access. 
She noted that during the time that she had been volunteering for the BHS, 
James and Hugh have been very helpful with advice and asking for input from 
a horse rider’s point of view eg surfaces. It was suggested that this would be a 
good opportunity for publicity regarding the local Rights of Way network. 
 

• Innes McEwen reported that his farm had received 40 school visits to date 
and that it was pleasing to see children learning about the Countryside, 
including young people from urban areas such as Slough and London.   

4



 

 
34. Any Other Business  

 
It was reported that three awards had been won this year for the Council’s green 
spaces for Shepherd Meadows (with Sandhurst Town Council), Pope’s Meadow and 
Lily Hill Park. Winkfield Parish Council had also received this prestigious award for 
Carnation Hall. 
 
Members felt this was most impressive and expressed their congratulations to all 
involved in this work. 
 
 
 
Mr Mike Abbott stated that he found the work of the Forum interesting and stated that 
he would like to become a member. The Chairman stated that his input would be 
most welcomed.   
 

35. Date of Next Meeting  
 
Tuesday 24 March 2009 at 7pm in the Function Room, 5th Floor, Easthampstead 
House. 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

5



This page is intentionally left blank

6



South East Local Access Forum Meetings 
 
 
There were two meetings (6th October & 3rd March) and a conference with a wider 
attendance in the afternoon of 3rd March. 
 
An English Access Forum (EAF) is being established which will enable LAFs to get together 
to voice common concerns and provide a link with Natural England (NE). 
 
The meeting on 6th October elected Mathew Balfour from Kent and Alan Marlow from 
Hampshire to represent the SE on the EAF and Cath Hart from Hampshire was asked to be 
the regional LAF co-ordinator.  Kevin Haugh is the Natural England contact for LAFs in the 
South East. 
 
It was proposed that there should be a sub-group of those LAFs which have Thames Basin 
Heaths in their areas. 
 
Other items for discussion were the Marine Bill (which is to create increased access to 
English coastline) and Gating Orders (where back alleys are gated for security reasons, 
some of which are rights of way).  
 
Other LAFs in our region seem to meet quarterly and are more involved in countryside 
matters, looking at strategic planning and discovering lost ways. 
 
 
The meeting on 3rd March approved the terms of reference for itself (SELAF) and had a 
presentation from the Rural Director of the South of England Development Agency 
(SEEDA) they have now developed links with the EC and do not need to go through 
DEFRA. 
 
It was reported that there seems to be a problem with Natural England’s office in Guildford 
not consulting LAFs about Thames Basin Heaths so again there is a move to set up a sub-
group of those LAFs concerned. 
 
We have long distance footpaths and cycle routes, SEEDA are therefore suggesting that 
we have long distance horse trails too. 
 
In the afternoon I attended sessions on “Influencing countryside provision for new housing” 
and “Can shared use routes be successful”.  In the first of these we were reminded that 
planners are obliged to consult LAFs and LAFs should use all the experience of their 
members to bring pressure for adequate countryside access provision to feature in any 
plans.  We are lucky that because of the proximity of protected heathland, any development 
has to include provision such that it does not increase the pressure on that heathland.  
Even with European protection for the heathland some large chunks of the MOD land are 
being put forward for housing.  There are plans for a so called “eco town” to be built on the 
site of an aerodrome at Dunsfold south of Guildford.  In the shared use session, when it 
became clear that shared use was converting footpaths into footpath and cycleways, it had 
the equestrians jumping up and down.  They complained that in places grass verges 
suitable for horses had been tarmaced over to make cycleways.  It was reported that the 
perceived increase in risk to users by shared use was not born out in practise.  However 
marking the route to segregate users does increase conflict as it gives a concept of territory 
whereas in practise all users use the full width.  What is needed is tolerance by all users. 
 

Agenda Item 3

7



 
 
Richard Mosses. 
 

8



Green Space Strategy 

First Draft - December 2008 

Bracknell Forest Council 
Parks & Countryside Service 

Agenda Item 6

9



‘To build, to plant, whatever you intend, 
To rear the column or swell the grot, 

In all let nature never be forgot, 
Consult the genius of the place in all, 
That tells the waters or to rise or fall, 

Or helps the ambitious hill the Heavens to scale, 
Or scoops in circling Theatres, the Vale, 

Calls in the country, catches opening glades, 
Joins willing woods and varies shades from shades, 

Now breaks or now directs, the intending lines; 
Paints as you plant and as you work designs.’ 

Alexander Pope, Epistle to Lord Burlington, 1731. 

10



Bracknell Forest Green Space Strategy 

2008 - 2013 

Contents

1. Summary 

2. Background 

3. Green Infrastructure 

4. Priorities 

5. Standards 

6. Delivery 

7. Action Plan 

8. Monitoring, Evaluation and Review 

Appendices

1. Legislative Context 

2. Policy Summary 

3. Defining Outdoor Recreation 

4. Assessing Risk 

5. Quality Assessment  

6. Quantity Standards 

7. Play Area Quality Criteria 

1st Consultation Draft December 2008 

11



Section 1  Summary 

1.1 Introduction 

This Strategy is part of a suite of documents designed to help prioritise and facilitate the 
management and development of the borough of Bracknell Forest. (Reference diagram 1)

Of particular significance are the Bracknell Forest Sustainable Community Plan, Living 
Together Working Together and the Bracknell Forest Local Development Framework.  
Also of direct relevance are the Rights of Way Improvement Plan, Biodiversity Action Plan, 
Cultural Strategy and Play Strategy. 

The emphasis of this strategy is on identifying, assessing and delivering local aspirations 
to safeguard and enhance quality of life; especially in the context of green space provision.   

The intention is to build on the issues and opportunities identified within related plans, but 
not duplicate other work. 

This document has been produced by Bracknell Forest Borough Council.  It is primarily a 
guiding document for work to be led by the Authority over the next 5 years.  However, 
green space development and management cuts across numerous organisations and so 
this Strategy also provides an important reference point and tool in support of their 
activities.

A core principal is Green Infrastructure.  As defined in the Green Infrastructure Planning 
guide (developed through a collaboration of regional and national organisations by 
researchers and practitioners based at North East Community Forests, University of 
Newcastle upon Tyne and Northumbria University, 2006) 

“Green infrastructure is the physical environment within and between our cities, towns and 
villages. It is a network of multi-functional open spaces, including formal parks, gardens, 
woodlands, green corridors, waterways, street trees and open countryside.  It comprises 
all environmental resources, and thus a green infrastructure approach also contributes 
towards sustainable resource management.”
http://www.greeninfrastructure.eu/

Within a policy context, the terminology ‘Green Infrastructure’ is relatively new; however, 
the concept is extremely well established.  As written in 1731, by the renowned, Binfield 
born poet, Alexander Pope:

“In all let nature never be forgot, 
Consult the genius of the place in all” 

This is at the heart of landscape design. 

1.2 Background 

This strategy follows on from the Parks & Open Spaces Strategy which was published by 
Bracknell Forest Borough Council in February 2002.  

The aims set out within this document were: 

12



 The Council will seek to ensure good levels and appropriate distribution of parks 
and open spaces of recreational value, which are of an appropriate nature, which 
contribute to the wide range of social and environmental functions of parks and 
open spaces and broad use of provision by all members of the community 

 The Council will take the lead role in ensuring appropriate provision of parks and 
open spaces of recreational value and use by all members of the community.  A 
formal partnership approach will be adopted and local delivery of services will be 
sought

Subsequent objectives were: 

 Existing parks and open spaces of recreational value will be protected 

 A clear perspective will be developed on quantities of provision, distribution of 
provision, the nature of sites, provision of facilities, which sites should be staffed 
and the role and nature of individual sites 

 Appropriate provision will be sought at each site covered by this Strategy relative 
to the determined role of sites, the needs of the community and the social and 
environmental functions of parks and open spaces 

 Broader community use of parks and open spaces of recreational value by all 
members of the community and broader community involvement in the 
management of sites will be sought 

 Public understanding of environmental and cultural issues relating to parks and 
open spaces will be sought 

 A strategic approach to funding for parks and open spaces of recreational value 
will be adopted and additional funding will be sought 

Proposed actions were centred on: 

A. Protection of existing provision 
B. Strategic perspective 
C. Appropriate provision at individual sites 
D. Community use and involvement 
E. Education 
F. Strategic approach to funding 

The Parks & Open Spaces Strategy has proved to be a valuable document, particularly in 
the context of major successes including restoration of Lily Hill Park; securing Parks for People
Heritage Lottery Funding to restore South Hill Park; Green Flag Awards for Westmorland Park, 
Pope’s Meadow, Shepherd Meadows / Sandhurst Memorial Park, and Lily Hill; and high levels 
of public satisfaction (82.1% of respondents, Bracknell Forest Residents Panel 2005).

13



1.3 Themes 

There are 3 key themes that run through this new Strategy: 

 Quantity 

 Quality 

 Use 

In basic terms, this involves: 

 The amount of green space available and needed 

 Standards of provision 

 Range of activities and functions facilitated 

 Communities involved 

 Management requirements 

1.4 Vision 

The over-arching vision for Bracknell Forest Borough Council is: 

“To make Bracknell Forest a place where all people can thrive; living, learning and working 
in a clean, safe and healthy environment.”
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/your-council.htm

This closely reflects the vision set out within the Sustainable Community Plan (Living 
Together Working Together, Bracknell Forest Partnership 2005)  

“In 2015, the community of Bracknell Forest will be self-confident, socially cohesive, 
economically buoyant and renowned for its “can do” attitude.  Living and working in 
Bracknell Forest will mean having an excellent quality of life.  Local people will be safe and 
healthy.  They will have a home that meets their needs and be able to travel easily around 
the borough, particularly by public transport.  The distinctive, quality environment of 
Bracknell Forest will be enhanced and the community and learning will be valued 
throughout people’s lives.”
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/sustainable-community-strategy-2005.pdf

Provision of and access to a quality environment are integral components of these visions.  
This has been quantified and assessed through the Bracknell Forest Borough Study of 
open space, sports, recreational and leisure facilities (Planning Policy Guidance Note 17) 
October 2006.

The resulting vision is for: 

“A high quality, accessible network of clean, safe and attractive green spaces and facilities 
which allow people to improve their health and well-being through recreation and sport 
now and in the future.” 
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ppg17-audit-report.pdf

14



1.5 Objectives 

3 key objectives underpin this strategy; 

A. Green Space Provision:
Secure and safeguard infrastructure for recreation, play, sport, health, biodiversity and 
heritage that is sustainable; appropriate to need; strategically located; and adaptable to 
future requirements 

B. Management and Development:
Provide safe and welcoming green spaces; achieve and raise quality standards 

C. Use and Enjoyment:
Ensure green spaces support and sustain well-being; encourage participation; and enable 
social inclusion 

15



COMMUNITY STRATEGY 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT 

FRAMEWORK

RIGHTS OF WAY 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

PLAY STRATEGY 

BIODIVERSITY ACTION PLAN

CULTURAL STRATEGY 

GREEN SPACES 
STRATEGY

PROJECT BUSINESS 
PLANS

MINI-PLANS 

SITE MANAGEMENT PLANS 

16



Section 2  Background 

2.1 Historic Context 

Bracknell Forest has a rich and varied history.  Throughout the last 10,000 years, 
interaction with and management of the natural environment has been a constant theme: 

 The earliest archaeological finds date from the Mesolithic period (10,000 – 4,000 
BC), when the landscape would have been densely wooded, with people living in 
small groups and thriving by hunting and gathering 

 A more settled lifestyle evolved in Neolithic (4,000 – 2,500 BC) and Bronze Age 
(2,500 BC – 1,000 BC) periods, with people developing agricultural systems and 
participating in cultural activities.  Evidence of this is identifiable within the 
landscape; particularly at places such as Wildmoor and at Bill Hill  

 The Iron Age (1,000 BC to 43 AD) and subsequent arrival of the Romans (to c.410 
AD) saw increasing built infrastructure, including features that remain within 
Swinley Forest such as an Iron Age Hill Fort (today known as Caesar’s Camp) and 
part of the Roman road connecting settlements at London and Reading (today 
known as the Devil’s Highway) 

It is perhaps from Norman times onwards that Bracknell Forest has been most evidently 
shaped.  After taking the throne of England from the Saxons in 1066, William of Normandy 
established Windsor as a Royal Hunting Forest.  This protected the land from settlement 
up until the 16th Century when the Crown granted estates to important courtiers.  Places 
such as Easthampstead Park, South Hill Park and Lilly Hill Park have evolved from this 
action.

The period following World War II has resulted in the most visible impact on Bracknell 
Forest.  Extensive bomb and fire damage during World War II (1939 – 1945) created acute 
housing shortages within big cities such as London.  The New Towns Act 1946 was
passed in response and enabled the setting up Development Corporations to plan and 
create new towns.  One of these was Bracknell New Town. 

A Development Corporation was set up with the aim to “develop a total community” and 
the motto of “Home, Industry, Leisure”

2.2 Natural Environment 

Alongside this historic significance, Bracknell Forest is of great importance for biodiversity 
and landscape: 

 More than 12% of Bracknell Forest is within a designated Special Protection Area 
(1357 hectares) 

 255 hectares of the borough are within a Special Area of Conservation 

 There are 9 designated Sites of Special Scientific Interest (1912 hectares) 

 70 Wildlife Heritage Sites have been designated within planning policy documents 

 Approximately 35% of Bracknell Forest is identified as Green Belt 

The Bracknell Forest Biodiversity Action Plan identifies 22 species of plants and animals 
and 6 habitat types of particular relevance. 

17



Of greatest significance for biodiversity is the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection 
Area.  This is a network of heathland sites which are designated for their ability to provide 
a habitat for the internationally important bird species of woodlark, nightjar and Dartford 
warbler.  This area is protected at the highest level, through European legislation under 
the Habitats Directive and the Habitats Regulations. 

2.3 Strategic Significance 

Provision of and access to green space is extensively recognised as being a key 
contributor to well-being and quality of life.  This includes being pivotal to: 

• Character of the built environment 
• Social functions; especially health, recreation and play, social inclusion, and 

community development 
• Environmental quality 
• Economic vitality 
• Sustainability 

Legislation and Policy 

The importance is such that creation, protection and management of green space are 
enshrined through a rich and diverse legislative framework (reference Appendix 1).

At a Policy level, green infrastructure is imbedded within key documents (reference
Appendix 2).

Central Government provides guidance on this through organisations such as the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and the Department for 
Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) and also advisory bodies such as Natural 
England and the Environment Agency. 
http://www.defra.gov.uk/wildlife-countryside/issues/index.htm
http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/leisure/default.htm

Particular relevant initiatives relating to green space include: 

 ‘Cleaner Safer Greener’ 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/communities/sustainablecommunities/cleanersafergreen
er/parksurban/

 Planning guidance and statements (especially Planning Policy Guidance 17) 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/planningandbuilding/planning/planningpolicyguidance/pl
anningpolicystatements/

 Manual for Streets 
http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/sustainable/manforstreets/

18



National Bodies 

A range of organisations commission research, lobby for and / or advise on best practice 
in the provision of green infrastructure.  The resulting guidance offers an invaluable 
resource base from which to help steer and influence future activity. 

Examples include: 

 The Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (CABE) 
http://www.cabe.org.uk/default.aspx?contentitemid=41

 The Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/public-spaces/

 Fields In Trust (formerly the National Playing Fields Association) and the Six Acre 
Standard

http://www.fieldsintrust.org/

 Sport England 
http://www.sportengland.org/index/get_resources.htm

 Play England 
http://www.playengland.org.uk 

 The Civic Trust 
http://www.civictrust.org.uk

19



Section 3  Green Infrastructure 

3.1 Definitions 

As set out by Greenspace Scotland: 

“Green spaces are the 'green lungs' of our towns and cities contributing to improving 
people's physical and mental health by providing places for informal recreation - walking, 
cycling, sitting, socialising and children's play - and 'breathing spaces' to take time out 
from the stresses of modern life. They bring the countryside into our towns and cities, and 
make it accessible from our 'backdoors'.” 

Under the ‘Cleaner Safer Greener Communities’ initiative (How to…Create Quality Parks 
and Open Spaces), the term ‘green space’ is used to cover a range of managed and more 
natural spaces which are publicly accessible.  Planning Policy Guidance Note 17: Sport 
and Recreation sets out a typology for defining open spaces. 

Parks and gardens, including urban parks, country parks and formal gardens 

Natural and semi-natural urban green spaces, including woodlands, urban forestry, 
scrub, grasslands, wetlands, open and running water, wastelands and derelict 
open land 

Green corridors, including river and canal banks, cycleways, and rights of way 

Outdoor sports facilities – owned publicly or privately, and with natural or artificial 
surfaces – including tennis courts, bowling greens, sports pitches, golf courses, 
athletics tracks, and playing fields 

Amenity green space – often around housing – including formal recreation spaces, 
domestic gardens and village greens 

Provision for children and teenagers, including play areas, skateboard parks, 
outdoor basketball hoops, and informal ‘hanging out’ areas and teenage shelters 

Allotments, community gardens and urban farms  

Cemeteries and churchyards 

Accessible countryside in urban fringe areas 

Civic spaces, including civic and market squares, and other hardsurfaced areas 
designed for pedestrians. 

This Strategy is largely guided by research set out within Bracknell Forest Borough Study 
of open space, sports, recreational and leisure facilities (PPG17) Final Report October 
2006.
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ppg17-audit-report.pdf

20



The Study focuses on Open Space of Public Value (OSPV).  This is defined as: 

i)  Public open space which is land available for satisfying the recreational needs of the local 
community, such as pitches, play areas or country parks and is usually maintained by the Borough 
or Parishes 

ii)  Private open space which is land that serves a similar purpose but may have very limited public 
access, such as golf courses and horse riding centres operated by organisations or trusts; or no 
public access as with Ministry of Defence land. 

Specific classifications used are: 

Parks & Gardens (A) 

Amenity Greenspace (B) 

Incidental Open Space and Highways Verge (C) 

Natural and Semi-Natural Open Space (D) 

Urban Woodlands (E) 

Green Corridors (F) 

Provision for Children & Young People (G) 

Outdoor Sports Facilities (H) 

School Playing Fields (I) 

Civic Spaces (J) 

Allotments (K) 

Cemeteries and Churchyards (L)

In addition to the approach indicated above, green infrastructure can be identified 
according to primary functions served: 

Function Characteristics 

Play Spaces providing opportunities targeted towards children and young people.  This is 
becoming increasingly significant in relation to encouraging healthy, active lifestyles and 
enabling social development.  Provision can range from specific, equipped play areas; to 
less formal places allowing for and encouraging unstructured, imaginative play and / or 
socialising

Active Sites supporting sport and leisure activities such as outdoor ball games and keep fit 

Formal Designed, landscaped areas specifically laid out as publicly accessible green space.  This 
includes parks and gardens.  In addition (especially within urban settings), formal green 
space encompasses civic spaces such as squares, public art, planted borders and flower 
beds

Informal This can encompass semi-natural land with low key or ‘defacto’ public access 

Natural Biodiversity rich spaces including heathland, meadows, river corridors, ponds and 
woodlands 

Linear Public Rights of Way, Cycle Tracks and trails 

Buffer Highway verges, embankments and boundaries 

Climate
Change 

A relatively new concept, this recognises the vital role that green infrastructure plays in 
mitigating the environmental impacts from increasing development pressure and associated 
pollution.  Examples include land drainage features such as balancing ponds 

21



In reality, green infrastructure and green spaces are multi-functional and provide for a 
combination of uses.  This is a significant strength, although conversely, can lead to 
disjointed management and confused public perception. 

3.2 Provision  

Local councils are key managers of green space; however, provision is significantly more 
extensive than as facilitated through these bodies. 

Organisational context is summarised within Section 6, including through the use of a 
PEST Analysis (Political Economic Social and Technical). 

Of particular significance to the establishment and management of green space within 
Bracknell Forest: is: 

Public Sector Unitary Authority 

Parish and Town Councils  

Government Departments and Agencies  

Voluntary Sector Charitable Trusts (Wildlife Trusts, National Trust, South Hill Parks 
Arts Trust) 

Local Community Groups  

Private Sector Land Owners  

Attractions 

Developers 

Contractors and Consultants 

3.3 Customer Research and Community Feedback 

Public perception is that Bracknell Forest is well served for accessible green space. 

From recent survey work; 

 82.3% of respondents use parks and open spaces 

 39% of respondents make use of open space near their home on a daily basis 
Source – Door to Door Household Survey undertaken by Strategic Leisure Ltd on behalf of 
Bracknell Forest Borough Council (2005) 

 82.1% of respondents are satisfied with parks and open spaces (28.5% ‘Very 
Satisfied’ and 53.6% ‘Fairly Satisfied’) 

Source - Bracknell Forest Residents Panel undertaken in July 2005  

 92.3 % satisfaction with the provision of parks and countryside activities in 
Bracknell Forest (42.9% ‘very satisfied’ and 49.2% ‘fairly satisfied’) 

Source - Residents Panel Survey undertaken in July 2007 as part of research for the 
Cultural Strategy

This does not mean that complacency can occur.  The natural environment is identified as 

22



an especially important feature of what is good about living in Bracknell Forest.  Set 
against high levels of post war urbanisation and significant further development pressure 
for at least the next 20 years, considerable challenges lie ahead in sustaining and 
enhancing this special quality. 

Barriers to Access: 

Based on the Household Survey undertaken in 2005, the indication is that up to 17.7% of 
respondents do not use parks and open spaces. 

The Residents Panel from the same year suggest that 17.9% of respondents are not 
adequately satisfied with parks and open spaces. 

Issues highlighted within the Household Survey (Strategic Leisure Ltd, 2005) include: 

 Lack of time 

 Age and / or ability 

 Distance 

 Safety and anti-social behaviour 

23



Section 4  Priorities 

4.1 Strategy Process 

The primary purpose of this Strategy is to influence, guide and support work by Bracknell 
Forest Borough Council and other agencies in the provision and management of green 
infrastructure throughout the borough. 

This involves development of new provision alongside management and improvement of 
existing facilities. 

In developing this strategy, the principle is to focus on: 

Priority     -  Objective         Action 

Key issues relating to green space are identified through a range of media.  Of particular 
relevance are: 

 Review and analysis of existing documentation, strategies and policies 

 Research and survey work 

 Observation and liaison with stakeholders 

Various tools are available to further enable assessment, prioritisation and programming.  
A PEST analysis, SWOT analysis and Risk Assessment have been undertaken and 
utilised to support the development of the Action Plan (Reference Diagram 2 and 
Appendix 4) 

24



4.2 Example Issues 

Issue Summary 

Supply:

Land
availability

Bracknell Forest is in an area of high development pressure.  In addition to creating 
competing demands on available space, intensity of development has a significant 
impact on land values.  The demand for residential development creates increasing 
need for green infrastructure, set against escalating costs to enable appropriate 
provision.

Design:

Location and 
scale

In striving to maximise economic return, the risk is that green space is of secondary 
concern.  This can result in green spaces on land which is perceived to have the 
lowest value, leading to provision adjacent to major transport corridors; concealed 
spaces to the rear of buildings (backland sites); poor quality drainage; small and / or 
fragmented sites and creation of ‘dead’ space.  When this occurs, the result is often 
poorly used sites which are subject to mis-use such as fly-tipping and vandalism.

Specification 
and delivery of 
works

Developers may look to use materials and planting which is cheap, readily 
available, easy to use and quick to establish.  This can be inappropriate to 
biodiversity and landscape character; have a short life span; and / or require 
extensive maintenance.  The issue is further compounded where poor quality 
construction is evident.

Regulation, 
standards and 
adoption

Design can be constrained and / or compromised through regulatory issues such as 
Highway Standards.  Whilst it is important to ensure safe spaces, this should not act 
as a barrier to innovation, character and quality.  Linked to this, factors relating to 
adoption and future revenue costs can lead to an imbalance of influence on use of 
materials, planting and layout. 

The opposite can also occur, whereby adoption and maintenance are not properly 
considered.  If adequate resources are not factored and secured, the result can be 
unmanageable spaces; rapid deterioration; and / or neglect.

Function:

Audience Changing population patterns can have a major effect on the suitability of facilities 
provided within green space. 

In establishing the New Town, a priority was placed on the provision of locally 
accessible play areas.  In some instance, the legacy is provision of facilities 
targeted for toddlers within a location no longer characterised by families with young 
children.  These sites can become ad-hoc (albeit much needed) meeting places for 
teenagers, with associated issues relating to noise and disturbance. 

Play space provision is receiving an increasingly high profile.  A growing body of 
evidence is demonstrating the link between social development and access to play.  
A particular concern is that children are growing up risk averse due to imbalanced 
perceptions of the dangers associated with accidents and contact with strangers.  In 
addition to the physical health benefits of an active lifestyle, interaction with nature 
is recognised as a valuable tool in helping to manage conditions such as Attention 
Deficit Disorder. 

The popularity of different activities varies over time; particularly with the advent of 
new influences.  Less traditional sports and activities currently have a high profile, 
such as baseball and cheer leading.  Wheeled sports facilities (skate boarding, 
roller blades and BMX cycles) are also proving very popular with young people.

Biodiversity Under European and national legislation, organisations such as Bracknell Forest 
Borough Council have a duty to assess whether there is a risk of any plan or 

25



proposal having a significant impact on the integrity of the Thames Basin Heaths 
Special Protection Area (SPA).  As a relevant body, the Council is legally required to 
not undertake activities which will have a negative impact. 

Natural England has identified a link between residential development, recreation 
and bird populations within the SPA.  The provision of Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspaces (SANGs) is pivotal in ensuring that development proposals do not 
cause harm to the special qualities of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection 
Area.  Accessible, well managed green spaces, with high natural characteristics are 
essential in providing for recreation outside of the designated SPA. 

Bracknell Forest has diverse habitats and is home to a number of rare and 
protected species.  This is reflected in designations such as Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Wildlife Heritage Site (WHS).  Buffer zones and 
wildlife corridors are increasingly important in minimising impact from development.

Management:

Roles / and 
responsibility  

Co-ordination within and between agencies is often disjointed.  Opportunities for 
identifying and delivering efficiencies, including best use of available expertise are 
not maximised.  Duplication of effort can occur, with separate bodies having similar 
(or even conflicting) management responsibilities within a particular location.  The 
opposite can also occur, whereby no organisation is tasked with; acknowledges; 
and / or adopts management responsibility for an area or activity. 

Within the borough, there are some excellent examples of partnership working 
between agencies and services.  These provide valuable models, demonstrating 
the benefits that can be achieved through closer liaison and sharing of resources. 

Funding  Effective site presence is widely recognised as being of high value in generating 
confidence within the public to best utilise green spaces.  In addition to addressing 
concerns about anti-social behaviour, site presence enables more pro-active 
maintenance including grass cutting, litter picking, tending to planting and borders, 
scrub management, interpretation and information provision.  Revenue budgets are 
under increasing pressure and without high levels of funding, it is extremely difficult 
to provide extensive, visible presence across the borough. 

Green spaces are often established through capital programmes; through public 
sector funding and / or linked to private sector developments.  Effective 
maintenance maximises durability and longevity; however, deterioration does 
occur.  The age and condition of many facilities is such that they need to be updated 
and / or renewed. 

Entrances, 
boundaries 
and
encroachment 

Maintenance is often focused from within sites.  This results in limited management 
of entrances and boundaries.  As a result residents and visitors may have a 
negative first impression, which can subsequently inform the overall experience. 

The issue is further compounded where parcels of land adjoining neighbouring 
properties are perceived predominantly as ‘screening’ and so subject to minimal 
intervention.  Lack of active management is a contributory factor in land 
encroachment, creation of unauthorised entrances, and dumping of waste. 

Added to this, boundaries have been compromised through decisions allowing 
small land sales to neighbouring properties.

Community:

Participation Although satisfaction ratings are high, the indication is that up to 17.7% of residents 
do not use parks and open spaces (Household Survey undertaken by Strategic 
Leisure Ltd on behalf of BFBC in 2005).  This is in part due to choice and amount of 
free time; however, action is needed to address actual and perceived barriers to 
participation. 

26



Engagement Significant added value can be achieved by actively involving local residents in the 
management and development of green spaces.  In addition to ensuring 
accountability, local communities provide an excellent resource base to strengthen 
management. 

At a corporate level within Bracknell Forest Borough Council, the Take Pride 
initiative has been set up to help mobilise public interest.  This links well to a long 
history of community volunteering in conservation.  

Behaviour Although at a relatively low scale, misuse of green spaces is evident.  Inappropriate 
activities include dog fouling, litter, fly-tipping, vandalism and illegal use of 
motorised vehicles.  The perception of the scale of these activities is often more 
pronounced than the reality; however, the issue is such that it acts as a barrier to 
participation and enjoyment. 

Partnership working is essential in addressing these issues.  Considerable success 
is being achieved through joint working between public services.  The Bracknell 
Forest Crime & Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP) has responsibility for 
planning and delivering solutions that will continue to ensure that Bracknell Forest 
remains one of the safest places to live and work in Berkshire. 

In addition to staff employed to manage green space, joint funding has enabled the 
Police to appoint Community Support Officers, and a dog warden is employed by 
Bracknell Forest Borough Council (jointly with the Parish and Town Councils). 

A key focus has been placed on education and awareness.  In order to fully address 
misuse of green space, Bracknell Forest Borough Council and partners also need to 
utilise enforcement powers.

27



4.3 SWOT Analysis 

The table below outlines an analysis of Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and 
Threats pertinent to the provision and management of green infrastructure within 
Bracknell Forest. 

Strengths Weaknesses

Infrastructure

 Number and distribution of green spaces 

 Range of activities and facilities provided 

 Landscape, biodiversity and heritage value 

Management 

Range of organisations involved 

Ability to secure and allocate resources  

Expertise within a wide range of service areas 
and ‘specialisms’ 

 Liaison with key stakeholders 

 Joint Working 

Community 

 High levels of public use and satisfaction  

 Local groups and volunteers - invaluable 
resource

 Stakeholder liaison 

 Events and activities – wide range across the 
borough 

Political 

 Strong political and corporate support 

Resources 

 Land availability – especially to provide larger 
sites

 Limited funding, staffing and related support 
services to address the wide variety of facilities 
and responsibilities 

Social Inclusion 

 Public perceptions of safety and behaviour 

 Awareness of facilities and responsible bodies 

 Identifying and meeting the needs of 
under-represented audiences 

Management 

 Interaction within and between agencies – 
clarity on roles and responsibilities; inconsistent 
culture and capacity  

 Bureaucracy, processes and procedures 

Political 

 Imbalance between activities competing for 
resources

Opportunities Threats

Strategic Approach 

 ‘National Agendas’ - Healthy Living, Green 
Infrastructure, Social Inclusion 

 Delivery of key plans, policies and objectives 

 Political and Corporate support 

Infrastructure

 Provision of new facilities and improvements 
linked to housing developments 

Resources 

 Population growth and associated development 
enabling allocation of private sector funding 
(through legal agreements) 

Management 

 Partnership working 

Community 

 Public awareness / profile 

 Increasing community participation, including 
under-represented groups 

 Initiatives such as Extended Schools 

Political 

 Changing governments and agendas 

 Emphasis on initiatives and not the essential 
supporting infrastructure 

Resources 

 Financial pressures, including increasing 
demands on revenue budgets 

 Potential down-grading of discretionary activity 

Management 

 Wide range of agencies and roles 

 Potential lack of focus and / or disproportionate 
influence 

 Expectations 

Infrastructure

 Increasing development pressures on public 
open space 

 Escalating land values and competing uses 

28



4.4 Policy Priorities 

Key factors relating to green infrastructure include: 

 Size, location, function and distribution – ensuring that the right facility is in the best 
place

 Quality and management – identifying and securing resources to enable year on 
year improvements, including the production and delivery of management plans 
and partnership working to optimise the use of skills and expertise 

 Community engagement – active involvement of local people, alongside 
addressing barriers to participation, including perceptions and behaviour 

Flowing from this are 3 key themes: 

 Quantity 

 Quality  

 Use 

These encompass: 

 The amount of green space  

 The standard of provision 

 The range of activities and functions facilitated 

 Community engagement 

 Management and maintenance 

4.5 Objectives 

The above issues, priorities and themes translate into 3 key objectives which underpin this 
strategy:

A. Green Space Provision:
Secure and safeguard infrastructure for recreation, play, sport, health, biodiversity and 
heritage that is sustainable; appropriate to need; strategically located; and adaptable to 
future requirements 

B. Management and Development:
Provide safe and welcoming green spaces; achieve and raise quality standards 

C. Use and Enjoyment:
Ensure green spaces support and sustain well-being; encourage participation; and enable 
social inclusion 

4.6 Actions 

Resulting actions encompass function; distribution; access (to, within and between); 
community (use and involvement including non users, minority groups and under 
represented audiences); marketing and promotion; education and awareness; and 
management.  An action plan is set out in Section 7.

29



Section 5  Standards 

5.1 Quantity 

The Six Acre Standard 

Recommended national standards for outdoor playing space are promoted by Fields in 
Trust.
http://www.fieldsintrust.co.uk/

This body, formerly known as the National Playing Fields Association (NPFA), was 
founded in 1925 to ‘help ensure that every man, woman and child in Great Britain and 
Northern Ireland would have the opportunity of participating in outdoor recreational activity 
within a reasonable distance of home during their leisure hours.’ 

As set out within The Six Acre Standard (2001 edition):

The suggested minimum national standard for outdoor playing space that should be 
adopted by all local planning authorities is 2.4 hectares (6 acres) per 1000 persons. 

Component parts to this are: 
Outdoor playing space for sport: 

 A minimum standard of 1.6 ha (4 acres) per 1000 people for outdoor sport 

 An important element of the above recommendations is a specific allocation of 
1.2 ha (3 acres) for pitch sports 

Outdoor playing space for children:  

 A minimum standard of outdoor space for children’s play of 0.8 ha (2 acres) per 
1000 people  

This recommendation for playing space is based on total population figures and not on 
the number of children.  The guidance refers to two elements: 

1. Designated areas for children and young people containing a range of facilities 
and an environment that has been designed to provide focussed opportunities for 
outdoor play

2. Casual or informal playing space within housing areas 

Playing space is defined as ‘space that is accessible and available to the general public, 
and of a suitable size and nature, for sport, active recreation or children’s play.’ 

This is not the same as open space which includes outdoor playing space as an important 
component but also encompasses other types and uses of land. 

The Standard recommends a hierarchical approach, identifying the need for the location 
of children’s play areas to be based on accessibility related to time rather than distance.  

Generally, children’s play areas should be accessible without having to cross main roads, 
railways or waterways.  

30



Summary of Characteristics of Children’s Play Areas 

Facility Walking 
Time

Walking 
Distance  

Radial 
(straight
line
distance)  

Minimum
size 
Activity 
Zone

Nearest 
Dwelling

Characteristic  

LAP
Local Area of 
Play

1 min 100m 60m 100 m2 5m from 
Activity 
Zone

Small low key 
games area 
(may include 
demonstrative 
play features)  
Provision is for 
young children 
(to age 6)  

LEAP
Local Equipped 
Area for Play

5 min 400m 240m 400 m2 10m from 
Activity 
Zone

5 types of play 
equipment, 
small games 
area
Targeted 
towards 
children of 
early school 
age (4 -8) 

NEAP
Neighbourhood 
Equipped Area 
for Play

15 min 1,000m 600m 1,000 m2 30m from 
Activity 
Zone

8 types of play 
equipment, 
opportunities 
for ball games 
or wheeled 
activities  
Focus on older 
children, with 
some provision 
for younger 
ages 

The Six Acre Standard also recommends: 

 A travelling time of approximately 20 minutes by motor transport to synthetic 
pitches or athletic tracks 

 10-15 minutes cycle ride or walk to local facilities  

 Local playing fields should be available within 1.2 kilometres of all dwellings 

In 2008, Fields in Trust published ‘Planning and Design for Outdoor Sport and Play’ as an 
update to the Six Acre Standard.  This publication identifies benchmark standards for 
Outdoor Sport and Outdoor Play based on survey returns from organisations across 
England.

31



Benchmark Standard Recommendations for Outdoor Sport 

Playing Pitches (such as football, cricket or lacrosse, including training areas): 

Type of Local Authority Benchmark Standard 
(hectares per 1000 population 

Urban 1.15

Rural 1.72

Overall 1.20

All Outdoor Sport (including bowls, athletics and tennis): 

Type of Local Authority Benchmark Standard 
(hectares per 1000 population 

Urban 1.60

Rural 1.76

Overall 1.60

All Playing Space: 

Type of Local Authority Benchmark Standard 
(hectares per 1000 population 

Designated Equipped Playing Space 0.25

Informal Playing Space 0.55

Children’s 0.80

Whilst the Six Acre Standard provides a valuable reference, a quantitative approach does 
not necessarily result in the most effective level of provision. 

National standards do however provide a valuable tool to help determine local standards, 
and to assess this against other areas.   

The recommendation set out in the Bracknell Forest Borough Study of open space, sports, 
recreational and leisure facilities (PPG17) October 2006 is that provision of equipped play 
areas should be based on accessibility rather than per head of population and planned for 
at a local level on a site by site basis.   

32



Sport England 

The recommended approach for the strategic provision of playing pitches is based on 
analysis of supply and demand (as set out within Towards a Level Playing Field): 

Stage 1  Identify teams 
Stage 2  Calculate the number of home games per team 
Stage 3  Assess the total number of home games per week 
Stage 4  Establish demand for games at different times 
Stage 5  Define pitch requirements used / required on each day 
Stage 6  Establish pitch availability 
Stage 7  Assess findings 
Stage 8  Identify policy options and solutions  

Whilst this provides a useful tool, it is of limited value when assessing needs for new 
communities.  In areas such as Bracknell Forest, pressure for new residential 
development is high and so the number of teams currently in existence (Stage 1) may fall 
short of what is needed and / or likely to be created. 

The recommended local standard for Bracknell Forest is to maintain the existing level of 
playing pitch provision and to seek pro-rata increase commensurate with population 
increases. 

33



The Bracknell Forest Quantity Standard 

Local standards for open space provision in Bracknell reflect the distinctive features of the 
Borough.  Particularly notable is the significance of being a New Town and aspirations 
behind the New Towns Act 1946 to develop a total community based on the motto of 
“Home, Industry, Leisure”. 

Also of pertinence are aspects including landscape character and make up of the resident 
population.

The standards are set out in policy; specifically the Bracknell Forest Local Plan 2002, and 
the Bracknell Forest Borough Limiting the Impact of Development Supplementary 
Planning Document 2007 (forming part of the Local Development Framework). 

Provision has been audited and needs assessed, in accordance with national policy 
guidance, as set out within the Bracknell Forest Borough Study of open space, sports, 
recreational and leisure facilities (PPG17) October 2006. 

The minimum recommended standard of open space provision: 

 4.3 hectares of Open Space of Public Value per 1000 persons 

This standard comprises: 

 Active open space at 2 hectares per 1000 persons 

 Passive open space at 2.3 hectares per 1000 persons 

Added to this 

Open space standard to mitigate development impacts on the Thames Basin Heaths 
Special Protection Area: 

 12 hectares per 1000 new population  

A summary of quantity standards for Bracknell Forest is set out in Appendix 6. 

34



5.2 Quality 

Fields in Trust Guidance (The Six Acre Standard) 

Community safety is identified as central to the design of outdoor playing space.  Issues 
such as vandalism, graffiti, litter and dog fouling are all contributing factors that can result 
in public dissatisfaction, and even exclusion.   

Much can be achieved through good design that recognises how the environment can 
influence behaviour. 

For Children’s Play Areas, as a matter of general practice, they should be:  

 Sited in open welcoming locations and not be tucked away on backland sites with 
access via narrow alleys or paths enclosed by high fences  

 Separated from major vehicle movements and accessible from pedestrian routes 

 Located sufficiently far away from dwellings to reduce the impact of noise and 
disturbance

 Overlooked from dwellings or well used pedestrian routes 

 Provided with seating for parents and careers  

 Fitted with play equipment that has been designed, manufactured, installed and 
maintained in full accordance with EN1176, EN1177 and BS7188  

Soft landscaping is of high importance.  In addition to supporting landscape character, 
biodiversity, and safety; the use of planting and natural features enhances experience of 
the user, particularly through sensory stimulation (colour, smell, shade and light).  
Management and maintenance are also recognised as being of fundamental importance. 

Play England 

10 principles for designing successful play spaces are summarised within Design for Play, 
A guide to creating successful play spaces (2008).  Successful play spaces: 

 are ‘bespoke’ 

 are well located 

 make use of natural elements 

 provide a wide range of play experiences 

 are accessible to both disabled and non-disabled children 

 meet community needs 

 allow children of different ages to play together 

 build in opportunities to experience risk and challenge 

 are sustainable and appropriately maintained 

 allow for change and evolution 
http://www.playengland.org.uk/resources/design-for-play.pdf

35



Secured by Design

This is an initiative led by the Police.  Under the scheme, awards are given in recognition 
of best practice in crime prevention through environmental design.  An associated 
checklist provides useful guidance on design and management issues which should be 
addressed.
http://www.securedbydesign.com/pdfs/SBD-principles.pdf

Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, local authorities have a duty to consider crime 
prevention and community safety within decision making. 

Sport England  

Active Design is an initiative commissioned by Sport England to promote new 
environments that offer opportunities for communities to be naturally active as part of their 
daily life.  Priorities are based on 3 ‘A’s: 

 Improving Accessibility 

 Enhancing Amenity 

 Increasing Awareness 

Green Flag Award Standards 

As set out by The Civic Trust: “The Green Flag Award is the national standard for parks 
and green spaces in England and Wales.  The award scheme began in 1996 as a means 
of recognising and rewarding the best green spaces in the country.  It was also seen as a 
way of encouraging others to achieve the same high environmental standards, creating a 
benchmark of excellence in recreational green areas.”  
http://www.greenflagaward.org.uk/

The Green Flag Award Scheme provides the definitive quality benchmark.  In 2008, 4 
parks in Bracknell successfully achieved Green Flag Awards.   

36



Summary of Green Flag Award Criteria: 

1. A Welcoming Place:  The overall impressions for any member of the community approaching and entering the park or 
green space should be positive and inviting, regardless of the purpose for which they are visiting.  Features of particular 
importance are:  

 Good and safe access  

 Good signage to and in the park or green space  

 Equal access for all members of the community  

2. Healthy, Safe, and Secure:  The park or green space must be a healthy, safe and secure place for all members of the 
community to use.  Relevant issues must be addressed in management plans and implemented on the ground.  New 
issues that arise must be addressed promptly and appropriately.  Particularly important issues are:  

 Equipment and facilities must be safe to use 

 The park or green space must be a secure place for all members of the community to use or traverse 

 Dog fouling must be adequately addressed 

 Health & Safety policies should be in place, in practice and regularly reviewed 

 Toilets, drinking water, first aid, public telephones and emergency equipment where relevant (e.g. life belts by 
water) should be available in or near the park or green space, and clearly sign posted 

3. Clean and Well Maintained:  For aesthetic as well as Health and Safety reasons, issues of cleanliness and 
maintenance must be adequately addressed, in particular:  

 Litter and other waste management issues must be adequately addressed  

 Grounds, buildings, equipment and other features must be well maintained  

 A policy on litter, vandalism and maintenance should be in place, in practice and regularly reviewed  

4. Sustainability:  Methods used in maintaining the park or green space and its facilities should be environmentally sound, 
relying on best practices available according to current knowledge.  Management should be aware of the range of 
techniques available to them, and demonstrate that informed choices have been made and are regularly reviewed.  
Specifically:  

 An environmental policy or charter and management strategy should be in place, in practice and regularly 
reviewed  

 Pesticide use should be minimised and justified  

 Horticultural peat use should be eliminated  

 Waste plant material in the park or green space should be recycled  

 High horticultural and arboricultural standards should be demonstrated  

 Energy conservation, pollution reduction, waste recycling, and resource conservation measures should be used 

5. Conservation and Heritage:  Particular attention should be paid to the conservation and appropriate management of: 

 Natural features, wildlife and fauna  

 Landscape features  

 Buildings and structural features  

 These features should serve their function well without placing undue pressure on the surrounding environment 

6. Community Involvement:  Management should actively pursue the involvement of members of the community who 
represent as many park or green space user groups as possible.  Management should be able to demonstrate:  

 Knowledge of user community and levels and patterns of use 

 Evidence of community involvement in management and/or developments and results achieved 

 Appropriate levels of provision of recreational facilities for all sectors of the community 

7. Marketing:  Marketing strategy in place, in practice and regularly reviewed 

 Good provision of information to users, e.g. about management strategies, activities, features, ways to get 
involved

 Promotion of the park or green space as a community resource 

8. Management:  A Green Flag Award application must have a management plan or strategy in place which reflects the 
aspirations of Local Agenda 21 and clearly and adequately addresses all the above criteria and any other relevant aspects 
of the park or green space’s management.  The plan must be actively implemented and regularly reviewed.  Financially 
sound management of the park or green space must also be demonstrated.  

37



Thames & Chilterns Britain in Bloom 

This scheme sets out key criteria for public spaces and provides opportunity to benchmark 
local provision.  In 2008, Bracknell was winner of the Large Town/Small City - Thames & 
Chilterns in Bloom Silver Gilt Award.  Summary of Criteria: 

A. Floral 
Displays 

Design and quality of features 
and displays, standards of 
maintenance, including 
lawned areas and evidence of 
spring displays and autumn 
colour.  Including actions 
taken to reduce irrigation 

Local authority
public parks & town gardens; war memorials; 
recreational areas; public buildings; displays 
associated with roads including roundabouts  

Business & commercial
Shops; multiple stores; retail centres; bus and train 
stations

Residential front gardens

Initiatives to conserve water
appropriate use of plant material; suitable location of 
schemes; evidence of a balance between seasonal & 
permanent planting; changes of methodology including 
systems to retain / reduce water 

B. Permanent 
Landscaping, 
including 
shrubs: 

Design and quality of 
plantings and standard of 
appropriate maintenance, 
including grass cutting 

Residential areas

Commercial premises
industrial estates; business & retail parks

Local authority
public parks; recreation areas; open spaces; war 
memorials; verges; roundabouts 

Recycling sites and car parks

Community involvement 
planting by voluntary organisations; encouragement of 
young people 

C. Local 
Agenda 21 
and
Sustainable 
Development. 

Innovative new ideas having 
impact on different areas of 
the community together with 
community effort  

Management of natural areas
nature conservation projects; monitoring; education; 
work programmes 

Other nature projects 
designated areas created to encourage wild flowers 
and wildlife; Interpretation / signage

Waste management 
Recycling;  composting 

Community involvement to encourage recycling to 
save natural resources 
Mulching; water conservation; minimisation of peat / 
pesticide / herbicide usage

Encouragement of young people 

D. Local 
Environmental 
Quality

Absence of litter, dog fouling, 
graffiti, fly-posting and other 
associated factors 

Cleanliness of city/town centres and other high 
profile public areas; functional areas (other than 
streets)
public parks and gardens; bus and train stations; 
children’s play areas  

Treatment of weeds in hard landscaped areas 

Condition of street furniture 
Litter / dog bins and management of gap sites 

Community involvement 
campaigns and community projects to encourage 
improved cleanliness; encouragement of young people

E. Public 
Awareness 

Publicity and promotion of 
Britain in Bloom and local “In 
Bloom” activities 

Marketing, publicity and promotion of Britain in 
Bloom 

Communication of information and media 
coverage. 

Organisation and innovation in attracting sponsorship, 
fundraising and other support including “in kind” benefits

38



Litter

Defra has produced a Code of Practice. 
http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/localenv/litter/code/index.htm

Grades of cleanliness are defined in the original Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse 
issued under section 89(7) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

For litter and refuse: 

Grade A: No litter or refuse 
Grade B: Predominately free of litter and refuse apart from some small items 
Grade C: Widespread distribution of litter and/or refuse with minor accumulations 
Grade D: Heavily affected by litter and/or refuse with significant accumulations 

Although the nature and characteristics of land may vary, the principles on which the litter, 
refuse and detritus are graded remain the same. 

The specified target for Bracknell Forest Borough Council is Grade B. 

The aspiration within high profile sites such as play areas is Grade A. 

39



The Bracknell Forest Quality Standard 

Open Spaces of Public Value across the borough have been quality inspected as part of 
the production of the Bracknell Forest Borough Study of open space, sports, recreational 
and leisure facilities (PPG17) Final Report October 2006. 

Assessment was based on criteria similar to Green Flag Award, encompassing all the 
critical elements advocated within Planning Policy Guidance 17 (Reference Appendix 5).

Typology Average Score  Average Rating  

A. Parks & Gardens 70% Very Good  

B. Amenity Greenspace  61% Very Good  

C. Incidental Open Space and Highways 
Verge Not quality rated 

D. Natural & Semi-Natural Greenspace 64% Good

E. Urban Woodlands 44% Average

F. Green Corridors  52% Good

G. Provision for Children & Young People  48% Good

H. Outdoor Sports Facilities  66% Very Good  

I. School Playing Fields Not quality rated

J. Civic spaces  Not quality rated

K. Allotments Quality rated anecdotally

L. Cemeteries, Churchyards 66% Very Good  

The inspection provides a score which equates to point on a ‘quality value line’.  This 
translates to a rating of either Very Poor; Poor; Average; Good; Very Good; or Excellent 

This provides a base line from which to measure and monitor success.   

Public perception of quality has also been assessed alongside the on-site inspections.  
This was carried out as part of Door to Door Surveys (Strategic Leisure Ltd).  The rating 
average was Satisfactory to Very Good. 

The subsequent aspiration is to deliver the ‘Plus One Principle’; whereby the quality score 
for every site is improved, with ‘Good’ as the minimum quality standard to be achieved. 

PPG17 study - open space quality 
category 

Plus One improvement in quality 

Very poor, poor or average quality  Good quality

Good quality Very good quality

Very good quality Excellent

Excellent Maintain excellent

40



Section 6  Delivery 

6.1 Summary of Roles 

Policy Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Government Departments and Agencies  

Design and 
Development  

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Parish and Town Councils  

Developers 

Consultants 

Management, 
Maintenance and 
Improvement 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Parish and Town Councils  

The Crown Estate 

The Ministry of Defence 

The Forestry Commission 

Berkshire Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust 

The National Trust 

Land Owners and Occupiers 

Contractors  

Local Community  

6.2 Resources 

Local authority budgets are secured through funding received via a combination of a 
settlement grant from Central Government, the collection of Council Tax, and income 
secured through direct activities such as service charges. 

The Council Tax is collected from residents by Bracknell Forest Borough Council to 
support delivery of the services that the organisation manages, as well as those of 
Thames Valley Police Authority, Berkshire Fire Authority and the local town or parish 
councils.  The Council Tax is a property-based tax, with a personal element included.  It is 
not a direct payment for services and so is payable whether or not individual services are 
actually used. 

Developer Contributions 

Under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), planning 
obligations may be used to:  

 Restrict development or the use of land in a specified way  

 Require specified operations or activities to be carried out in, on, under or over 
land

 Require land to be used in a specified way  

 Require sums to be paid to the authority on a specified date or periodically 

Obligations may be conditional or unconditional and may impose restrictions or 
requirements for an indefinite or specified period. 

41



They can be secured by agreement, (for example signed by both the Borough Council and 
anyone else with an interest in the land); or by a Unilateral Undertaking (signed solely by 
those with an interest in the land).  

Circular 05/2005 on planning obligations sets out five tests that must all be satisfied where 
planning obligations are sought:  

 Necessary to make proposed development acceptable in planning terms  

 Relevant to planning  

 Directly related to proposed development  

 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to proposed development  

 Reasonable in all other respects 

Arrangements for developer contributions are set out within Limiting the Impact of 
Development Supplementary Planning Document (2007). 
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/env-spd-lid.htm

Specific reference is made to green infrastructure requirements including Open Space 
and Outdoor Recreational Facilities; Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area; 
Natural Environment; Climate Change; Public Realm and Environmental Enhancements 
and Heritage. 

Income Generation 

With regards to green spaces, income can be raised through: 

 Direct charges - raised for the hire of facilities such as sports pitches and courts; 
and for specialist services such as the provision of technical and / or administrative 
expertise

 The use of land - for activities such as the grazing of livestock; fishing; installation 
of infrastructure and equipment (utilities); and special events 

 Sale of land – the release of non operational assets to facilitate strategic objectives 

Grants and Awards

Investment can be secured through the use of grant schemes whereby green space 
initiatives support delivery of priorities set out by external organisations.  Of particular 
relevance are initiatives such as Parks for People (delivered through the Heritage Lottery 
Fund) and use of the Landfill Communities Fund (co-ordinated through Entrust). 
http://www.hlf.org.uk
http://www.entrust.org.uk

Funding can also be secured through participation in initiatives additional to core service 
delivery.  These initiatives are set up to enable innovation; facilitate joint working between 
organisations; and ‘stretch’ performance.  A good example of this is Local Area 
Agreements set up between central government and Local Strategic Partnerships. 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/performanceframeworkpartnerships/loc
alareaagreements/

42



Sponsorship

Many local businesses are keen to demonstrate commitment to the environment and 
social responsibility towards the communities within which they operate.  Support to 
projects can also provide a cost effective means to generate positive publicity. 

Sponsorship can take the form of direct financial contribution and / or the provision of 
goods, services and staff time. 

Volunteers

Local communities provide a valuable resource; offering a wealth of expertise, enthusiasm 
and commitment.  In addition to supporting day to day management, local community 
groups and individuals can be a major catalyst for change and unlock funding 
opportunities outside of the availability to organisations such as local authorities. 

43



6.3 Management and Development 

PEST Analysis 

The following table summarises the Political, Economic, Social and Technological aspects 
of green infrastructure provision within Bracknell Forest and the opportunities this affords. 

Political

Public Sector 

Unitary Authority - ownership of land and provision of leadership, expertise and accountability 

Parish and Town Councils - site ownership and management delivery partners 

Government Departments and Agencies (Department for Communities and Local Government, 
Department for Food and Rural Affairs, Government Office for the South East, Natural 
England, Environment Agency, Forestry Commission, Environment Agency) – legislation, 
policy, advice and funding 

Voluntary Sector 

Charitable Trusts (Berks Bucks and Oxon Wildlife Trust, National Trust, South Hill Park Arts 
Trust) – land ownership and management, provision of services and expertise (arts, heritage, 
wildlife)

Local Community Groups – local knowledge, practical support, guidance 

Private Sector 

The Crown Estate – land ownership and management 

Farmers, small-holders, equestrian – land ownership and management 

Attractions – provision of facilities 

Developers – design and build of new green spaces 

Contractors and Consultants - provision of technical expertise and services 

Summary
 Multi-agency approach enabling utilisation of wide ranging expertise 
 Local accountability (public sector) combined with grass roots flexibility (voluntary sector) and 

tailored specialisms (private sector) 
 Risk of fragmentation and competition for resources 

Economic

Affluent population with pockets of deprivation 

Regional significance 

Public service 

High demand for development  

Increasing pressure on revenue budgets 

Competition for external funds 

Summary
 High disposable income to support leisure based activities balanced by free access to / 

provision of green spaces to attract potentially excluded groups 
 Drawing visitors from a large catchment 
 Community benefit as key factor and so not fully dependant on income streams 
 Developer contributions to mitigate impacts 
 Need to secure efficiencies and savings 

44



Social

Increasing population - high pressure for new housing to support growth at a regional level 

Importance of quality environment - quantitative and qualitative provision of green space 

Culture – enriching people’s lives 

Access to leisure / recreation - quality of life (healthy active lifestyles) 

Biodiversity - safeguarding and enhancing habitats and species (proximity to Thames Basin 
Heaths Special Protection Area) 

Summary
 Growing demand for accessible green space 
 Aspiration and commitment to increasing amount of green space alongside raising quality 

standards (including Green Flag Awards) 
 Walking, cycling, running (and contact with natural environment) increasingly significant in 

contributing to quality of life (addressing issues such as heart disease, obesity, diabetes, 
attention deficit disorder) 

 Commitment and support for protecting and increasing biodiversity (including attracting people 
to sites outside of the SPA)  

Technological

IT - greater use and understanding of remote access and new tools supporting design and 
management 

Contrast - use of interpretative tools to stimulate 

Materials – sustainability and longevity 

Summary
 Capacity to reach new audiences 
 Opportunity to address physical barriers restricting inclusion 
 Ability to stimulate senses and add contrast (integrating and adding value to heritage through 

sensitive use of modern design) 
 Opportunities to minimise environmental impact and off-set future revenue costs through 

capital works 

45



Section 7  Action Plan 

Key 
Theme

Focus Objective Action Funding
Mechanism

Timescale

Quantity Size 

Function 

Distribution 

Access 

Green Space Provision: 

Secure and safeguard 
infrastructure for 
recreation, play, sport, 
health, biodiversity and 
heritage that is 
sustainable; appropriate 
to need;
strategically located; and 
adaptable to future 
requirements 

A1.  Ensure new development, as a minimum, 
includes green infrastructure in accordance with 
criteria set out within the Local Development 
Framework (Limiting the Impact of Development) 

A2.  Identify, plan and secure strategic green 
infrastructure as integral components within site 
allocations as set out within the Local Development 
Framework.  (e.g. Amen Corner, North Bracknell) 

A3.  Facilitate the development, adoption and 
management of new facilities (Country Park, Copses, 
Public Spaces, Play Areas, Sports Facilities) as set 
out within S106 Agreements for Churchill House, 
RAF Staff College (The Parks), Peacock Farm 
(Jennett’s Park), Town Centre (new Jubilee Gardens) 

A4.  Deliver actions in support of the Thames Basin 
Heaths Special Protection Area Avoidance and 
Mitigation Strategy: 

 Production and delivery of Mini- Plans for 
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces 
(SANGs) 

 Access Management 

 Education 

Support habitat management and enhancement 
within the TBH SPA 

Developer 
Contributions  

Revenue 
Budgets,
External
Grants 

2008
onwards 

Mini-plans to 
be produced 
by October 
2008

Delivery from 
April 2008 

46



A5.  Actively seek, and where feasible acquire land to 
support appropriate future green infrastructure 
provision.  This includes linking and connecting to 
existing sites to develop extensive networks. 

A6.  Ensure that the creation, enhancement and 
subsequent management of green spaces supports 
delivery of the Biodiversity Action Plan 

A7.  Support the development and delivery of the 
Play Strategy (led by Early Years and Childcare) and 
related national Children’s Plan initiatives such as 
Play Builders, Fair Play and Pathfinder 

A8.  Review the distribution, location, design and 
management of small equipped play areas.  Potential 
measures to include: 

 Transferring ownership and / or 
management to local partners 

 Removing under utilised or poor quality 
facilities where local need is better served 
by suitable, alternative provision 

 Re-design to raise quality and bring facilities 
into effective use 

A9.  Support work (led by Parish Councils) to identify 
and secure land for Allotments 

Developer 
Contributions, 
External
Grants, Capital 
Budgets

Revenue 
Budgets,
External
Grants, 
Developer 
Contributions 

External
Grants 

Revenue and 
Capital
Budgets,
External
Grants, 
Developer 
Contributions 

Parish Council 
funds, External 
Grants 

47



A10.  Support delivery of actions (co-ordinated 
through the Local Countryside Access Forum) as set 
out within the Rights of Way Improvement Plan 

A11.  Instigate research to increase the knowledge 
base for sites of historic and archaeological interest.  
Develop and implement a prioritised programme to 
enhance management, understanding and enjoyment 

A12.  Ensure provision of green infrastructure in 
support of climate change avoidance and mitigation.  
Specific measures include: 

 Actively engage utility companies and 
statutory agencies to secure provision of and 
implement improvements to land drainage 
features such as balancing ponds to ensure 
that they operate effectively; alongside 
providing for biodiversity, landscape and 
recreation 

External
Grants, Capital 
and Revenue 
Budgets,
Developer 
Contributions 

External
Grants, Capital 
and Revenue 
Budgets

Developer 
Contributions, 
Private Sector 
Revenue funds 

48



Key Theme Focus Objective Action Funding
Mechanism 

Timescale

Quality Function 

Distribution  

Access  

Community  

Management 

Management and 
Development: 

Provide safe and 
welcoming green spaces; 
achieve and raise quality 
standards 

B1.  Ensure co-ordinated, joint working between 
agencies in the design, construction, adoption and 
maintenance of green spaces; including identifying 
and securing resources for sustainable management 

B2.  Produce a landscape design guide to support 
best practice in the creation of new green 
infrastructure.  Promote and implement associated 
recommendations 

B3.  Ensure that maintenance and improvement of all 
green spaces is encompassed within appropriate 
Management Plans (Target of 10 sites per year) 

B4.  Include all publicly accessible green spaces 
within a prioritised programme of enhancement; 
achieving a minimum quality rating of ‘Good’ (i.e. 
implement the ‘Plus 1 Principal’) 

B5.  Redesign and implement improvement works to 
address ‘backland’ sites 

Developer 
Contributions 

Revenue 
Budgets

Revenue 
Budgets

Developer 
Contributions, 
Capital and 
Revenue 
Budgets,
External
Grants 

Developer 
Contributions, 
Capital
Budgets,
External
Grants 

2008

2008
onwards 

2008
onwards 

2008
onwards 

49



B6.  Assess quality of green spaces (Bracknell Forest 
Standard) on a 3-5 year cycle; to include Public 
Rights of Way Condition Survey 

B7.  Produce Business Plans and secure resources 
to implement major projects to restore and / or 
enhance high profile parks and gardens; specifically 
including South Hill Park 

B8.  Improve maintenance standards of outdoor 
sports facilities within parks; specifically pitches, 
tennis courts and wheeled sports (examples include 
Longhill Park, Westmorland Park, Farley Wood 
Community Centre) 

B9.  Assess Play Quality and local needs for 
equipped play areas to ensure appropriate targeting 
of locations, facilities, age range and ability.  Deliver 
a prioritised programme of upgrading and replacing 
equipped play areas, including developing 
opportunities for ‘natural’ play 

B10.  Continue to participate in the Green Flag Award 
scheme to assess, monitor and celebrate attaining 
high quality standards.  Retain and add to the 
number of parks attaining the Award; to include sites 
enhanced through major capital schemes (Lily Hill 
Park, South Hill Park) 

Revenue 
Budgets

Capital
Budgets,
External
Grants 

Revenue 
Budgets

Capital
Budgets,
Developer 
Contributions 

Revenue 
Budgets

Winter 2009 
for PROW 

2010 for sites 

Business 
Plan and HLF 
bid Sept 2007 
Stage 1 from 
Spring 2008  

2007
onwards 

50



B11.  Continue to participate in the Britain in Bloom 
Award scheme to assess, monitor and celebrate 
attaining high quality standards with ‘Bracknell 
Flowers’ 

B12.  Review and improve the procedures available 
to assess, advise and enhance management of 
locally designated Wildlife Heritage Sites.  Implement 
and monitor actions in accordance with proposed 
National Indicators for Biodiversity 

B13.  Raise the knowledge base, profile and 
subsequent management standards for trees in the 
landscape.  Specific measures to include: 

 Developing an asset register 

 Reviewing and updating use of Tree 
Preservation Orders 

 Producing Ancient and Veteran Tree policies 

B14.  Continue and extend partnership working 
between agencies; including reviewing and 
rationalising responsibilities to raise management 
standards and secure efficiencies.  Specific 
measures include: 

 The Parks and Public Realm Forum 
(Parishes) 

 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection 
Area Access Management Partnership 

 Joint working with The Crown Estate and 
Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire 
Wildlife Trust 

 Service Level Agreements e.g. Thames 
Valley Environmental Records Centre  

Revenue 
Budgets

Revenue 
Budgets

Capital
Budgets,
Revenue 
Budgets

Revenue 
Budgets

2008 / 09 

2007
onwards 

51



B15.  Review Value For Money in the use of contract 
arrangements for site maintenance activities.  Identify 
and implement improvements 

B16.  Actively seek external investment to support 
the development and enhancement of green spaces.  
Specific measures include bidding for grants and 
awards and investigating the feasibility of 
sponsorship 

Revenue 
Budgets

2007
onwards 

52



Key Theme Focus Objective Action Funding
Mechanism 

Timescale

Use Community 

Marketing and 
Promotion

Education and 
Awareness 

Use and Enjoyment: 

Ensure green spaces 
support and sustain well-
being; encourage 
participation; and enable 
social inclusion 

C1.  Raise awareness of green infrastructure and the 
opportunities available through targeted marketing 
and publicity.  Specific measures to include a review 
of branding of publicly accessible green spaces 

C2.  Increase enjoyment and understanding of 
publicly accessible green space through the use of 
interpretative media; to include off site measures 
including the review of leaflets and web based 
material

C3.  Identify and implement actions to raise on-site 
management presence in order to address barriers to 
participation caused through fear of anti-social 
behaviour 

C4.  Identify, prioritise and implement actions to 
increase social inclusion; including participation for 
the elderly, disabled, young people and minority 
groups.  Measures to include: 

 Initiate a programme of site access audits 
and implement resulting practical 
improvements 

 Review the involvement of disabled people 
within consultative forums.  Identify gaps and 
invite appropriate representation 

 Initiate an audit of interpretation / information 
provision.  Identify and implement a 
programme of improvements 

 Identify needs and opportunities for 
community transport links to green spaces 

Revenue 
Budgets

Revenue 
Budgets,
Developer 
Contributions, 
Capital
Budgets,
External
Grants 

2008
onwards 

2007
onwards  

53



C5.  Encourage participation in healthy active 
lifestyles through events, marketing and support to 
initiatives including ‘3 x 30’ (Local Area Agreement 
for increasing participation rates) and the proposed ‘5 
hour offer’ (sport for young people) 

C6.  Support and extend community involvement in 
the management and enhancement of green spaces; 
including through consultative forums, Friends 
groups, residents associations and volunteering  

C7.  Continue and extend joint working with local 
clubs to raise awareness of facilities available; 
improve management; secure resources; and 
increase participation  

C8.  Identify and implement opportunities for 
increasing provision of and access to facilities 
through joint working and initiatives such as 
Extended Schools 

Revenue 
Budgets,
External
Grants 

Revenue 
Budgets

Revenue 
Budgets

Revenue 
Budgets,
Capital
Budgets,
External
Grants 

2008
onwards 

2007
onwards 

2007
onwards 

2008
onwards 54



Section 8  Monitoring, Evaluation and Review

8.1 Measuring Performance 

Green infrastructure is essential to the delivery of wide ranging initiatives and functions; 
from wildlife protection and enhancement through to improving people’s health. 

Alongside demonstrating success in the design and management of green space, there is 
logic and value in monitoring relevant outputs and outcomes which help achieve these 
initiatives and functions. 

Relevant national and local indicators need to be in place to support delivery and assess 
performance.  Targets and results must be carefully considered, with priorities and actions 
regularly reviewed to ensure effective delivery. 

Linked to this, two main approaches to measuring will be implemented: 

i) Outcomes – use of surveys to assess levels of use; satisfaction ratings; public 
needs and perceptions; quality and quantity standards; habitat condition; and 
wildlife diversity 

ii) Outputs – monitoring and measuring activities such as the number of events 
held; groups and individuals participating; works implemented 

8.2 National Indicators 

Previous

The main National Indicator previously in place that is of direct relevance to green space is 
119(e):

Performance
Indicator

Definition 

119(e) The percentage of residents satisfied with the Local Authority Cultural 
Services e) parks and open spaces 

178 and 119(a) are also of relevance: 

178 The percentage of total length of footpaths and other rights of way which are 
easy to use by members of the public 

119(a) The percentage of residents satisfied with the Local Authority Cultural 
Services a) sports/leisure facilities 

Future

The Government recently consulted on a new Local Government Performance 
Framework to measure implementation of national priorities. 

As set out by the Department for Communities and Local Government; “the new local 
performance framework aims to reform the way in which public services are delivered – in 
health, welfare, housing, employment, education, communities, economic development, 

55



policing and community safety, the environment and beyond. It will help Government to 
focus on its priorities in a co-ordinated way and transfer power from Whitehall to local 
authorities and to communities. Devolving power to local authorities and their partners will 
help them to respond to local priorities resulting in the better provision of public services 
and improvement of the quality of life of local communities.” 

Of most relevance to green space is: 

Performance
Indicator

Definition 

NI 197 Improved local biodiversity – active management of local sites (as defined 
through designation as Wildlife Heritage Sites) 

Related

In addition to NI 197; green infrastructure can contribute to delivery of: 

Performance
Indicator

Definition 

NI 6 Participation in regular volunteering 

NI 8 Adult participation in sport  

NI 188 Adapting to climate change  

NI 189 Flood and coastal erosion risk management  

NI 195 Improved street and environment cleanliness (levels of graffiti, litter, detritus 
and fly posting)  

There are also potential links to: 

Performance
Indicator

Definition 

NI 10 Visits to museums or galleries  

NI 11 Engagement in the arts  

NI 175 Access to services and facilities by public transport, walking and cycling  

NI 185 CO2 Reduction from Local Authority operations  

NI 194 Level of air quality – reduction in Nox and Primary PM10 emissions through 
local authority’s estate and operations  

NI 196 Improved street and environment cleanliness – fly tipping 

NI 198 Children travelling to school – mode of travel usually used 

56



8.3 Tools and Guidance  

Towards an Excellent Service 

As set out by CABE Space: 

“Towards An Excellent Service (TAES) for parks and open spaces enables you to 
benchmark your service against a model of excellence and to plan improvements. 
Adopting this approach can assist in improved user and staff satisfaction, efficiency, the 
delivery of parks and open spaces that meet users needs and increased recognition for 
the parks team within the authority” 
http://www.idea.gov.uk/idk/aio/7095846

This version has been developed specifically for the parks and open spaces sector by 
CABE Space with IDeA, the Institute for Sports Parks and Leisure (ISPAL), GreenSpace
and practitioners. 

GreenSTAT 

Green Space is a registered charity which works to improve parks and green spaces by 
raising awareness, involving communities and creating skilled professionals.  As set out 
on their website: 

“GreenSTAT is a system that gives local residents the opportunity to comment on the 
quality of their open spaces and how well they feel they are being managed and 
maintained. It allows site managers to compare the results with others up and down the 
country to give a truly national voice of what we think about our open spaces.” 
http://www.greenstat.org.uk/

Both of these initiatives will be utilised to help benchmark services; assess quality; and 
measure success. 

57



8.4 Proposed Monitoring for Green Spaces 

Theme Monitoring Mechanism National or 
Local
Indicator

Method Frequency 
(Where 
Applicable)

Quantity Hectares of green space 
provision 

Number and type of facility 

The percentage of total 
length of footpaths and 
other rights of way which 
were easy to use by 
members of the public 

Local 

Local 

Local 
(previously 
178)

Desk based research 

Desk based research 
/ site assessment 

Site assessment 
(Representative 
Sample) Annual 

Quality Improved local biodiversity 
– active management of 
local sites (as defined 
through designation as 
Wildlife Heritage Sites) 

Species and habitat 
surveys  

The Bracknell Forest 
Standard Quality Rating / 
Plus 1 Principle 

Rights of Way Condition 
Survey 

Green Flag Award Scheme / 
Britain in Bloom (Thames 
and Chilterns Region) 

National (NI 
197)

Local 

Local 

Local 

Local 

Representative 
sample 

Site surveys (linked 
to Biodiversity Action 
Plan)

Site assessment 
(using consultant) 

Path surveys 

External Judging 
(Civic Trust / Royal 
Horticultural Society) 

Annual 

3 Years 

3 Years 

Annual 

Use Visitor use and experience  

Satisfaction - the 
percentage of residents 
satisfied with parks and 
open spaces  

Increasing recreational use 
of sites outside the Thames 
Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area 

Volunteer Input  

Local 

Local 
(previously 
119(e)) 

Local 

Local 

GreenSTAT (web 
based survey) 

Resident Panels 

On site visitor 
surveys 

Hours contributed 

3 Years 

Quarterly 

58



Appendix 1  Legislative Context 

Legislation Headline Action 

Open Spaces Act 
1906

 Providing powers for local authorities to acquire open 
spaces for recreation 

New Towns Act 
1946

 To provide for the creation of new towns by means of 
development corporations, and for purposes connected 
therewith  

The National Parks 
and Access to the 
Countryside Act 
1949

Introduced the concept of National Nature Reserves (NNRs) 
and Sites of Special Scientific Importance (SSSIs), 
important for their flora and fauna, geological or 
physiographical (landform) features; and conferred powers 
on local authorities to create nature reserves 

The Countryside 
Act 1968

A duty to have regard to the desirability of conserving the 
natural beauty and amenity of the countryside in the 
exercise of functions relating to land 

Highways Act 1980  Powers and Duties relating to the management and 
maintenance of Public Rights of Way 

Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 
1981

 The creation of wildlife habitats through restoration of 
mineral workings/reclamation of derelict land; 

 Managing local authority land so that account is taken of its 
wildlife interest/environmental improvement schemes 

 Educational activities and the provision of information about 
conservation. 

Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 
(Section 106) 

 (1)  A local planning authority may enter into an agreement 
with any person interested in land in their area for the 
purpose of restricting or regulating the development or use 
of the land, either permanently or during such period as may 
be prescribed by the agreement. 

 (2)  Any such agreement may contain such incidental and 
consequential provisions (including financial ones) as 
appear to the local planning authority to be necessary or 
expedient for the purposes of the agreement. 

The Planning and 
Compensation Act 
1991

Improved local planning authorities' abilities to safeguard 
conservation and amenity areas by strengthening their 
planning enforcement and development control powers. It 
also required structure, local and unitary development plans 
to include policies in respect of the conservation of the 
natural beauty and amenity of the land.  

EC Council 
Directive on the 
Conservation of 
Natural Habitats 
and of Wild Fauna 
and Flora: The 
Habitats Directive 
(1992) 

Contributes to the conservation of bio-diversity by requiring 
Member States to take measures to maintain or restore 
natural habitats and wild species at a favourable 
conservation status in the Community, giving effect to both 
site and species protection objectives. 

Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 
2000

 New rights of access on foot for open air recreation on 
access land – predominantly mountain, moor, heath or down 

 Establishment of Local Access Forums – to advise on 

59



access to land for all types of open air recreation 

 Production of Rights of Way Improvement Plans 

 Greater protection for nature conservation – due regard for 
biodiversity and increased powers regarding Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest 

The Local 
Government Act 
2000

 The Act provides new powers for local authorities to 
promote the economic, social and environmental well being 
of their area; a duty to develop Community Strategies; and 
establishes a new ethical framework for local government 

Clean 
Neighbourhoods 
and Environment 
Act 2005 

A range of measures to improve the quality of the local environment 
by giving Local Authorities and the Environment Agency additional 
powers to deal with:  

 fly-tipped waste  

 litter  

 nuisance alleys  

 fly-posting and graffiti  

 abandoned and nuisance vehicles  

 dogs  

 noise,  

 nuisance from artificial lighting and insect, and other 
issues affecting the local environment. 

It also puts the Commission for Architecture and the Built 
Environment (CABE) on a statutory basis. 

Natural 
Environment and 
Rural Communities 
Act 2005 

 Extension of responsibilities to safeguard and enhance 
biodiversity

 Additional legislation relating to Rights of Way – specifically 
Byways 

Legal compliance: 

In addition to the above, there are a number of legal provisions and statutory 
obligations that affect the delivery of park services that need to be duly considered 
and if necessary reflected in management plans.  These include: 

• Statutory Instrument 2004 No.118 Prescribed Descriptions (England) Order 2004 
(established statutory crime and disorder strategies); 
• Local Government Acts 1972, 1999 (established Best Value Authorities) and 2000 
(established promotion of economic, social or environmental well-being); 
• Local Government and Rating Act 1997; 
• Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996; 
• Environmental Protection Act 1990; 
• Litter Act 1983; 
• Parish Councils and Burials Authorities (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1970; 
• Public Health Acts 1848 to 1875; 
• Smallholdings and Allotments Act 1908;•; 
• Enclosure Act 1845. 

The provisions of these Acts enable local authorities to hold land, provide services, 
enforce byelaws and in some cases impose fines. Further details can be obtained 
from www.legislation.hmso.gov.uk

60



Appendix 2  Policy Summary 

Strategic Background 
BFBC’s over-arching vision is: “To make Bracknell Forest a place where all people 
can thrive; living, learning and working in a clean, safe and healthy environment.”

The Council’s plans for the period 2007-11 are laid out within four over-arching 
priorities.  Within these, 10 Medium Term Objectives set out the targets for this 
period:

Priority one: a Town fit for the 21st century 
1.  To build a vibrant Bracknell town centre that residents are proud of

Priority two: protecting and enhancing our environment 
2.  To keep our parks, open spaces and leisure facilities accessible and 

attractive by: 

 Restoring South Hill Park grounds  

 Preparing a new cultural strategy for the Borough 

 Reviewing management options for leisure sites in order to maintain 
quality and generate secured investment 

 Preparing a new parks and open spaces strategy 

 Improving the quality of the countryside and open space by targeted 
projects and by engaging the voluntary sector 

3.  To promote sustainable housing and infrastructure development 
4.  Keep Bracknell Forest “clean and green” 

Priority three: promoting health and well-being 
5.  To improve health and well being within the Borough 
6.  To improve the outcomes for children and families through the Children and 

Young People’s Plan 
7.  To promote independence and choice for vulnerable adults and older people 
8.  Seek to ensure that every resident feels included and able to access the 

services they need 

Priority four: safe and secure 
9. To reduce crime and increase people’s sense of safety in the Borough 
10. To be accountable and provide excellent value for money by: 

Bracknell Forest Sustainable Community Plan (2005)
Bracknell Forest Partnership is a collaboration which brings together agencies that 
deliver public services (the Councils, Police, Fire and Rescue Service, and Primary 
Care Trust) with businesses and people that represent voluntary organisations and 
the community. 

Bracknell Forest Partnership aspires to have an open dialogue with people that live, 
work and study in Bracknell Forest, along with visitors, so that it can understand what 
really matters to local people.  From information gathered, the Partnership has put 
together a shared vision for Bracknell Forest and a list of local priorities.  This 
material has been published in the Bracknell Forest Sustainable Community Plan, 
which is being used by all the partners to align their work to ensure that all working to 
a common goal, as set by the whole community. 

61



“In 2015, the community of Bracknell Forest will be self-confident, socially cohesive, 
economically buoyant and renowned for its “can do” attitude. Living and working in 
Bracknell Forest will mean having an excellent quality of life. Local people will be 
safe and healthy. They will have a home that meets their needs and be able to travel 
easily around the borough, particularly by public transport. The distinctive, quality 
environment of Bracknell Forest will be enhanced and the community and learning 
will be valued throughout people’s lives”  

The Bracknell Forest Sustainable Community Plan has eight priorities: 

Promoting learning and training for all ages 

Protecting and enhancing the environment 

Improving health and well being 

Providing decent and affordable housing 

Developing a town fit for the 21st Century 

Improving travel and transport 

Promoting community safety 

Improving community engagement 

Priority 2 includes the following aims: 

Reduced waste and pollution 

Increased biodiversity 

Reduced environmental crime 

Increased awareness of environmental issues leading to changes in    
       behaviour 

Reduced impact of local developments on the natural environment 

Increased energy efficiency and use of renewable energy 

Priority 8 includes: 
Greater satisfaction with Bracknell Forest as a place to live 

Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan (January 2002) 
The local plan, adopted in 2002, sets out a clear statement of Bracknell Forest 
Borough Council’s strategy for land use planning to 31 March 2006. 

Relevant policies: 

 POLICY EN1: Protecting tree and hedgerow cover 

 POLICY EN4:  Local Nature Reserves, Wildlife Heritage Sites and Regionally 
Important Geological Sites 

 POLICY EN8:  Development on land outside settlements 

 POLICY R1:  Loss of open space of public value 

 POLICY R7: Countryside recreation 

Bracknell Forest Borough Local Development Framework 2007 (LDF) 
The Bracknell Forest Borough Local Development Framework (LDF) is a portfolio of 
documents that together will guide future development in the borough. 

While documents in the LDF are being prepared, policies in the Bracknell Forest 
Borough Local Plan (2002) will be used to guide the development until they are 
replaced.

62



The Core Strategy Development Plan Document (Adopted in December 2007) 
contains policies which set out an over-arching planning framework to guide the 
location and level of development in the borough for the next 20 years. 

The Core Strategy policies are divided into six themes: 
1. Sustainable Growth 
2. Quality of Life 
3. The Environment 
4. Somewhere to Live 
5. Somewhere to Work and Shop 
6. Transport 

Within these themes, 24 policies are set out and form the basis for more details 
policies and proposals to be set out in other Local Development Documents. 

Relevant policies listed in the Core Strategy are: 

 POLICY CS1: Sustainable Development Principles

 POLICY CS6: Limiting the Impact of Development

 POLICY CS7: Design

 POLICY CS8: Recreation and Culture 

Of particular relevance is: 

Policy CS8: Recreation and Culture 
Development will be permitted which; 
i. Retains, improves and maintains existing Recreational Facilities; and/or 
ii. Provides and maintains new Recreational Facilities. 

Berkshire Structure Plan 2001-2016 
Produced by the Joint Strategic Planning Unit, who carry out strategic planning 
functions for the county, this document replaces the 1991-2006 Structure Plan.  The 
plan was prepared by the six Unitary Authorities which make up the former county of 
Berkshire and was adopted by the Secretary of State on 15 July 2005.

Relevant policies: 

 POLICY DP6 : Land Outside Settlements

 POLICY DP7 : Gaps and Green Wedges

 POLICY EN1 : Landscape  

 POLICY EN3 : Biodiversity  

 POLICY EN4 : Historic Environment

‘Life is for Living Two’ Bracknell Forest Cultural Strategy 2008-2012 
Vision: To improve the look and feel of Bracknell Forest making it a stimulating and 
enjoyable place to visit, and contributing to a thriving community where all people are 
happy to live, work and achieve.

This vision is supported through three strategic themes:-  

63



 Enhance Town Centre, villages and neighbourhoods  

 Improving the sense of belonging and community spirit for all  

 Continue to support and improve the range of high quality facilities and 
services  

The following points are the relevant proposed Action Plans for each theme: 

Theme 1: Enhance Town Centre, villages and neighbourhoods  

 Provide appropriate facilities and activities for young people  

 Providing purposeful leisure opportunities as diversionary activities  

 Encourage residents to care for their local environment  

 Increase participation in and enjoyment of art, sport and recreation 

 Encourage best practice in conservation management of archaeological sites  

 Safeguard and enhance the natural environment  

 Create new Conservation Areas  

Theme 2: Improving the sense of belonging and community spirit for all  

Encouraging participation and enjoyment: 

 Improve community cohesion through culture and sport (Local Area 
Agreement- LAA)

 Improve the health and wellbeing of adult residents (LAA)  

 Improve health and wellbeing in the community and in the workplace  

 Support schools with increasing the cultural content of after school and 
holiday activities

 Implement the Play Strategy  

 Establish woodland crafts and forest heritage project to enhance local identity 
and skills

 Encourage the voluntary sector to increase quality and range of activities  

 Increase community involvement in parks by establishing liaison and Friends 
of Groups

 Seek to provide community development in new neighbourhoods  

Reducing Barriers to Access: 

 Remove physical barriers that prevent access by those with physical 
disabilities

 Seek to provide facilities close to where people live  

 Provide more community arts activities in local community venues  

Celebrating:

 Encourage civic pride and civic participation in the local area  

Improving information and awareness:  

 Promote sense of place through raising awareness of local parks, countryside 
and heritage resources  

 Promote awareness and care of the Borough’s splendid tree stock and 
landscape character  

Theme 3: Continue to support and improve the range of high quality facilities and 
services  

Improving infrastructure:  

 Implement the Rights of Way Improvement Plan  

64



 Continually improve green spaces using the ‘plus one’ principle  

 Improve non car access to sites by improving facilities for walking and cycling  

Encouraging use:  

 Support appropriate local sports clubs to achieve improvements in their 
facilities and services  

 Encourage sports development through community and voluntary groups 

 Encourage use of parks and community centres by older people  

 Improve access for disabled people to all buildings and to green spaces  

 Encourage countryside recreation on low impact sites so as to meet the 
needs of the SPA Mitigation Strategy  

 Continue to support the voluntary footpath warden scheme and local 
conservation volunteers  

 Improve consultation and community engagement in shaping the future of 
services  

 Promote good practice through cultural accreditation schemes e.g.   
Chartermark, Green Flag  

 Promote 3 x 30 (LAA), the government aspiration for the adult population (age 
16+) to participate in 30 minutes of sport of moderate intensity physical 
activity on at least three days in any one week. 

PPG17 Study (2006) 
The BFBC PPG17 Study (2006) comprised a report on open space and indoor sport 
and recreational facilities and provides a clear vision and priorities for the future, 
based on local need: 

“A high quality, accessible network of clean, safe and attractive green spaces and 
facilities which allow people to improve their health and well-being through recreation 
and sport now and in the future”

The ‘plus one’ principal is being followed to ensure that the quality of existing 
recreational facilities and open space is progressively improved from its current 
assessed quality rating (as stated in the PPG17 Audit) into the next quality category, 
for example from an ‘Average’ rating to ‘Good’ or ‘Good’ to ‘Very Good’ (with ‘Good’ 
as the minimum standard to be attained). 

The study followed a five-stage process: 

 Step 1: Identifying Local Needs 

 Step 2: Auditing Local Provision 

 Step 3: Setting Provision Standards 

 Step 4: Applying Provision Standards 

 Step 5: Draft Policy Principles 

The Study demonstrated that the quality of lives is a priority; with several clear 
themes emerging from consultation: 

 Open space and facilities are important, and in many ways are seen as the 
Borough’s best assets.  There is overall support to maintain the existing level of 
provision and provide new where needed. 

 People want to see their open space and facilities improved. 

 The character of the borough is undoubtedly defined to a large extent by its 
greenness and open spaces. Open space landscaping also serves to soften the 
hard edge of an urban environment. 

65



 Open space and recreational facilities are an important contribution towards 
achieving truly sustainable communities, either through maintaining or enhancing 
existing communities or in helping create new communities. 

 All seven Councils (Bracknell Forest Borough Council and the six parish or town 
councils) have prided themselves on their active management of open space and 
facilities. The high quality ratings of spaces from the results of the audit prove this 
point.

 Open space and recreational facilities are well used for both passive and active 
recreation. Visitor surveys and other counts prove their popularity. 

Biodiversity Action Plan 2006-2011
The Bracknell Forest Biodiversity Action Plan includes individual action plans for 24 
species of plants and animals in Bracknell Forest known as the "Bracknell 24". These 
species have been carefully chosen to include a wide cross-section ranging from 
internationally rare or protected species, to more common species which are locally 
valued or special.  Actions to conserve the "Bracknell 24" and their habitats will also 
have beneficial knock-on effects for other species. 

The BAP has the following aims and objectives: 

1.1 Aim 
To conserve and enhance biodiversity within Bracknell Forest Borough 

1.2 Objectives 

Comprehensive Monitoring: of species and habitats in the Borough to 
enable decisions to be informed, with up to date and detailed records. 

Proactive Policies: on planning and conservation, to ensure that important 
sites are protected and that where development occurs actions are taken 
to achieve the best result for wildlife in the Borough. 

Positive Management: on sites owned and/or managed by the Borough 
Council and its partners that aims to maintain, restore and create habitat 
for wildlife and balance the varied uses on open spaces in the area. 

Effective Communication: between partners, landowners and the public to 
raise awareness, encourage partnership working, and inform decision-
making

A Strategy for our Heritage (2004) 
This heritage strategy results from the findings of a Member-led working group 
established in August 2002 to consider the role of heritage as an aspect of the 
Community Plan and Cultural Strategy; both of which seek to develop a sense of 
place and increase local identity amongst residents of Bracknell Forest. 

The result of these site visits led to the framework for the Heritage Strategy which 
includes five strands 
1. Community Participation 
2. Audit & Assessment 
3. Collection & Protection 
4. Interpretation & Dissemination 
5. Funding 

Through these strands the views of the Heritage Working Group have been focused 
onto a series of outcomes.  Of particular relevance are the following sections: 

66



2.1 Bracknell Forest Borough Council’s role in protecting the heritage 

Management of several locally important historic parks and gardens for 
public enjoyment - Pope's Meadow, South Hill Park, Lily Hill Park, 
Easthampstead Park, Snaprails Park, Ambarrow Court. 

The Bracknell Forest Heritage Strategy forms a basis from which to devise new 
policies and action plans, develop partnerships, encourage self-sustaining 
community participation and to actively seek new funding opportunities. 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2006 
Vision: Bracknell Forest Borough Council, through the Bracknell Forest Rights of 
Way Improvement Plan, aims to provide a public rights of way network:

 on which up-to-date information is readily available by a variety of means; 

 that is physically accessible for all where practicable; 

 which meets the needs of a wide variety of users for both recreation and 
access. 

Relevant Policies: 

 POLICY ROWIP 1: Rights of Way Users
Protect and enhance the public rights of way network. Place priority on improving 
accessibility of the network for the mobility or visually impaired. 

 POLICY ROWIP 2: Maintenance
Continue to maintain the public rights of way network to a high level based on 
BVPI standards and aim to increase the accessibility of the network where 
practical.

 POLICY ROWIP 3: Routes and Links
Where practicable, reclassify existing paths or create new paths to provide further 
network linkages and create further safe circular routes, particularly for horse-
riders, cyclists and carriage-drivers. 

 POLICY ROWIP 4: Information and Marketing
Provide information on and promote the public rights of way network to the public 
through online information, leaflets, route guides, press releases and on-site 
information.

 POLICY ROWIP 5: Non Users
Consider non-users of the public rights of way network as potential future users; 
examine reasons for non-use and take action on those which might easily attract 
new users. 

 POLICY ROWIP 6: Responsible Use / Landowners and Managers
Promote and publicise legal and responsible use of the public rights of way 
network and access to the countryside; landowners and land managers with 
areas open to public access will be supported regarding public use of their land. 

Play Strategy (2007) 
The Play Strategy (2007) adopts the seven ‘Best Play’ objectives published in “Best 
Play: What play provision should do for children” (Children’s Play Council).  These 

67



objectives are broad statements intended to set out how the definition of play and the 
underpinning values and principles should be put into practice.  They form the basis 
against which play provision and future developments can be evaluated. 

Objective 1: The provision extends the choice and control that children have over 
their play, the freedom they enjoy and the satisfaction they gain from it. 

Objective 2: The provision recognises the child’s need to test boundaries and 
responds positively to that need. 

Objective 3: The provision manages the balance between the need to offer risk 
and the need to keep children safe from harm. 

Objective 4: The provision maximises the range of play opportunities. 

Objective 5: The provision fosters independence and self-esteem. 

Objective 6: The provision fosters children’s respect for others and offers 
opportunities for social interaction. 

Objective 7: The provision fosters the child’s well-being, healthy growth and 
development, knowledge and understanding, creativity and capacity to learn. 

The strategy then sets out an action plan with 9 areas of work: 
1. Play rangers 
2. Training and education 
3. Inclusive play 
4. General infrastructure of parks and open spaces 
5. Opening up school grounds 
6. Urban design 
7. Jabadeo programme 
8. Cultural change 
9. A place for young people 

Safer Communities Strategy (2005-2008) 
The Bracknell Forest Safer Communities Partnership is made up of representatives 
from the Local Authority, Police, Health, Thames Valley Police Authority, Probation 
Service and the Fire Service all of whom are statutory partners.  This 3 year strategy 
is produced in consultation with these partners and members of the community and 
outlines the intentions of BFBC to reduce the crimes that cause the community the 
most harm. 

The strategy has 4 target areas: 

 Reducing crime 

 Drugs and alcohol  

 Perceptions and anti-social behaviour  

 Young people 

The partnership has agreed rights and responsibilities such as ‘the right to feel safe 
from traffic in streets and public places’ and will continue to support and protect such 
public rights and whilst encouraging the community to exercise the associated 
responsibilities.

Disability Awareness 
Bracknell Forest Borough Council is committed to providing an accessible 
environment for all the community. In recognising the access needs of disabled 
people, the Borough Council aims to improve the built environment, services and 

68



facilities for all users, creating an inclusive environment for all those who live, work or 
visit Bracknell Forest.  

The Borough Council runs an Access Advisory Panel. The Panel is made up of local 
representatives of disability organisations within the Borough and four councillors. 
The Panel works to improve services and facilities in Bracknell Forest for disabled 
people.

Designing for Accessibility Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was adopted at 
a meeting of the Executive of Bracknell Forest Borough Council on 20 June 2006.  
This document sets out the standards now expected in new development to create 
an accessible environment for all within the Borough. It promotes the design of an 
inclusive built environment for all and has chapters on legislation, policy, best 
practice and design advice. 

69



Planning Policy Guidance  

Planning Policy 
Statement 1: 
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Development 

PPS1 sets out the overarching planning policies on the delivery of 
sustainable development through the planning system. These policies 
complement, but do not replace or override, other national planning 
policies and should be read in conjunction with other relevant 
statements of national planning policy. 

Four aims for sustainable development: 

 Social progress which recognises the needs of everyone 

 Effective protection of the environment  

 The prudent use of natural resources 

 The maintenance of high and stable levels of economic 
growth and employment 

Planning Policy 
Guidance 2: Green 
belts

 States the general intentions of Green Belt policy, including its 
contribution to sustainable development objectives  

 Reaffirms the specific purposes of including land in Green 
Belts, with slight modifications  

 Gives policy a more positive thrust by specifying for the first 
time objectives for the use of land in Green Belts  

 Confirms that Green Belts must be protected as far as can be 
seen ahead, advises on defining boundaries and on 
safeguarding land for longer-term development needs 

 Maintains the presumption against inappropriate development 
within Green Belts and refines the categories of appropriate 
development, including making provision for the future of 
major existing developed sites and revising policy on the re-
use of buildings 

Planning Policy 
Guidance 17: 
Planning for Open 
Space, Sport and 
Recreation 

 Supporting an urban renaissance - local networks of high 
quality and well managed and maintained open spaces, 
sports and recreational facilities help create urban 
environments that are attractive, clean and safe. Green 
spaces in urban areas perform vital functions as areas for 
nature conservation and biodiversity and by acting as 'green 
lungs' can assist in meeting objectives to improve air quality. 

 Supporting a rural renewal - the countryside can provide 
opportunities for recreation and visitors can play an important 
role in the regeneration of the economies of rural areas. Open 
spaces within rural settlements and accessibility to local 
sports and recreational facilities contribute to the quality of life 
and well being of people who live in rural areas. 

 Promotion of social inclusion and community cohesion - well 
planned and maintained open spaces and good quality sports 
and recreational facilities can play a major part in improving 
people's sense of well being in the place they live. As a focal 
point for community activities, they can bring together 
members of deprived communities and provide opportunities 
for people for social interaction.  

 Health and well being - open spaces, sports and recreational 
facilities have a vital role to play in promoting healthy living 
and preventing illness, and in the social development of 
children of all ages through play, sporting activities and 
interaction with others.  

 Promoting more sustainable development - by ensuring that 
open space, sports and recreational facilities are easily 
accessible by walking and cycling and that more heavily used 
or intensive sports and recreational facilities are planned for 

70



locations well served by public transport. 

The guidance specifically relates to assessments of needs, audits of 
provision and future opportunities and policy 

Planning Policy 
Statement 9: 
Biodiversity and 
Geological 
Conservation 

Key Principles 

 Development plan policies and planning decisions should be 
based upon up-to-date information about the environmental 
characteristics of their areas.  These characteristics should 
include the relevant biodiversity and geological resources of 
the area. In reviewing environmental characteristics local 
authorities should assess the potential to sustain and 
enhance those resources. 

 Plan policies and planning decisions should aim to maintain, 
and enhance, restore or add to biodiversity and geological 
conservation interests.  In taking decisions, local planning 
authorities should ensure that appropriate weight is attached 
to designated sites of international, national and local 
importance; protected species; and to biodiversity and 
geological interests within the wider environment. 

 Plan policies on the form and location of development should 
take a strategic approach to the conservation, enhancement 
and restoration of biodiversity and geology, and recognise the 
contributions that sites, areas and features, both individually 
and in combination, make to conserving these resources. 

 Plan policies should promote opportunities for the 
incorporation of beneficial biodiversity and geological features 
within the design of development. 

 Development proposals where the principal objective is to 
conserve or enhance biodiversity and geological conservation 
interests should be permitted. 

 The aim of planning decisions should be to prevent harm to 
biodiversity and geological conservation interests.  Where 
granting planning permission would result in significant harm 
to those interests, local planning authorities will need to be 
satisfied that the development cannot reasonably be located 
on any alternative sites that would result in less or no harm.  
In the absence of any such alternatives, local planning 
authorities should ensure that, before planning permission is 
granted, adequate mitigation measures are put in place.  
Where a planning decision would result in significant harm to 
biodiversity and geological interests which cannot be 
prevented or adequately mitigated against, appropriate 
compensation measures should be sought.  If that significant 
harm cannot be prevented, adequately mitigated against, or 
compensated for, then planning permission should be 
refused.

Planning Policy 
Guidance 15: 
Planning and the 
historic environment 

The Government urges local authorities to maintain and strengthen 
their commitment to stewardship of the historic environment, and to 
reflect it in their policies and their allocation of resources. 

 It is fundamental to the Government's policies for 
environmental stewardship that there should be effective 
protection for all aspects of the historic environment.  

 The physical survivals of our past are to be valued and 
protected for their own sake, as a central part of our cultural 
heritage and our sense of national identity.  

71



 They are an irreplaceable record which contributes, through 
formal education and in many other ways, to our 
understanding of both the present and the past.  

 Their presence adds to the quality of our lives, by enhancing 
the familiar and cherished local scene and sustaining the 
sense of local distinctiveness which is so important an aspect 
of the character and appearance of our towns, villages and 
countryside.  

 The historic environment is also of immense importance for 
leisure and recreation. 

72



Appendix 3  Defining Outdoor Recreation 

Outdoor recreation encompasses a wide variety of activities, both formal and 
informal.  In addition, the range and choice of possible locations is extensive.  
Accordingly, the topic can be difficult to conceptualise and define. 

As part of work identifying and establishing early priorities, the confederate 
organisations which formed Natural England were working jointly on a recreation 
strategy for the new organisation.  This included commissioning discussion papers to 
inform the strategy.  As set out within Paper 1 of the Henley Centre Headlight Vision 
report (2005); outdoor recreation can be broadly defined as:- 

Just being outdoors – watching wildlife, looking at the view, picnicking 
Creative activities – art, photography, story telling, music 
Health or relaxation – walking, jogging, dog walking, horse riding, cycling 
Utility Journeys – which also provide a recreation experience (e.g. Greenways to 
connect people and place) 
Informal games and play – kite flying, model aircraft, glider flying, sand castles, 
sledging
High adrenalin, non-competitive activities – canoeing, mountain biking, caving, 
climbing and bouldering 
Commercially run activities
Study of the natural environment 
Educational activities and programmes 
Conservation volunteering 
Sustainable journeys to outdoor recreation 

Added to this are activities such as organised sports, history and archaeology and 
visiting friends and family. 

Henley Centre Headlight Vision have also devised a matrix to illustrate the process of 
planning and travelling undertaken by users in determining recreational choice. 

Planned

e.g. Picknicking 
Canoeing
Watching wildlife 

e.g. Day trips 
Holidays 

     Close to Home        Far from Home

e.g. Dog walking 
Looking at view 
Walking / cycling to work 

e.g. Visit to attraction 

    Incidental 

73



Figure: The decision making process in outdoor recreation (as summarised by 
Pigram, 1983) 

Socioeconomic
characteristics 

Situational
characteristics 

Resource
characteristics 

Individuals 

Households 

Perception

Demand

Propensity for 
outdoor 

recreation

Supply 

Opportunities 
for outdoor
recreation

Participation

in outdoor 
recreation 

Decision
Choice

Activities 
Time
Duration
Site

Accessibility 

Demographic 
characteristics 

74



Assessing Risk 

Level Nature of Risk Description 

Likelihood Severity

Impact Actions 

Technical 

Understanding of 
Asset  

Insufficient knowledge 
and awareness of green 
infrastructure 

Low Medium Inadequate level of provision 
Poor quality standards 
Public dissatisfaction 
Diminished Quality of Life 

Strategic approach adopted with all actions 
meeting and delivering policy priorities 
PPG17 Audit undertaken (Study of open spaces, 
recreational and leisure facilities) 
Master-plans created for new developments 
Use of Planning system to influence future 
provision (S106 Agreements, Unilateral 
Undertakings, Environmental Impact 
Assessments, Planning Conditions)  
Management Plans for key sites 

Biodiversity 
Value

Incomplete understanding 
of habitats and wildlife 
value

Low High Loss of habitat and / or species 
Inability to maximise value 
Failure to meet regulatory / 
legislative requirements 

Actions in accordance with and support delivery 
of the Bracknell Forest Biodiversity Action Plan 
Projects developed and delivered utilising 
appropriate expertise 
Key activities to include ecological survey, with 
watching brief and subsequent monitoring 
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy produced  

Historic 
Significance 

Incomplete understanding 
of heritage value 

Low High Poor quality and / or 
unsympathetic design 
Inappropriate use of materials  
Loss of heritage 
Failure to meet regulatory / 
legislative requirements 

Heritage Strategy 
Management Plans  
Proposals / design and specification work 
developed utilising appropriate expertise 

Climate Change 

Weather 

Heavy rainfall, heat 
waves and other climatic 
issues

Medium High Environmental change 
including; loss of species,
escalating costs, timescale 
delays, erosion 

Fundamental role of green infrastructure in 
avoidance and mitigation 
Landscape and planting proposals to factor 
change and minimise potential negative impact 
(such as water consumption) 

75



Project timescales calculated to allow for 
potential weather related impacts 
Works phased to minimise impact on public and / 
or site. 

Type and Extent 
of Skills and 
Activity required 

Incomplete knowledge of 
the range of works 
required to establish, 
manage and enhance 
green infrastructure 

Low Medium Poor quality and / or 
unsympathetic design 
Inappropriate use of materials 
Escalating costs 
Delays to timescales 
Failure to meet regulatory / 
legislative requirements 

Use of appropriate expertise / multi-discipline 
teams; including partnership working – in-house, 
partner bodies and contractors / consultants 

Ground 
Conditions

Incomplete site 
knowledge 

Low Medium Inappropriate works 
Escalating costs 
Timescale delays 

Surveys and research prior to formulating design 
proposals 
Use of appropriate expertise 

Market

Public Demand / 
Aspiration

Need for infrastructure / 
facilities
Public dissatisfaction 

Low Medium Poor public profile 
Low / inappropriate use of park 

Research - including PPG17 Audit to assess 
provision 
Regular public consultation 
Community engagement 

Visitor Numbers Static or declining visitor 
numbers 

Low Low Low public use of green space . Regular public consultation including use of 
GreenStat 
Marketing and Promotion - on- and off-site  

Visitor Profile Actions do not result in 
attracting new and / or 
under-represented 
audiences. 

Low Low Existing audiences only 
continue to use green spaces. 

Regular public consultation 
Development of new marketing material, both 
on- and off-site to attract new audiences 
Targeting of groups 
Delivery of key actions to address barriers 

Financial

Funding Insufficient financial 
resources to deliver 

Medium High Actions not delivered - 
impacting on quality of life 
Deteriorating condition of 
facilities
Declining visitor numbers  
Future budgetary implications 
(capital and revenue) through 

Delivering national, regional and local priorities 
Action Plan developed through consultation with 
activities prioritised 
Multi-agency delivery 
External funding opportunities maximised 
including use of grants and developer 
contributions 

76



neglect 

Revenue 
Budgets

Revenue budgets 
insufficient to allow for 
effective maintenance 

Medium High Quality and quantity 
compromised by lack of future 
maintenance 

Ensure high public satisfaction and delivery of 
corporate priorities 
Potential for capital works to minimise revenue 
implications
Efficiency – including Partnership working 
Collation and use of Commuted Sums from 
developer contributions 

Rising Costs and 
Inflation

Costs higher than 
anticipated 
Inflation rises above 
estimated levels 

Low Medium Reduced quality and / or 
quantity
Delays to implementation 
Reduced funding available 

Design, specification and cost estimating works 
developed utilising appropriate expertise (multi-
discipline teams) 
Monthly monitoring of expenditure 

Income 
Generation 

Reduced or no income Low Low Reduced funding available Maximise appropriate opportunities for income 
generation  
Quality and quantity improvements to provide 
opportunities for future income generation 
Ensure revenue budgets are not income 
dependent (income dependence will greatly 
reduce social inclusion) 

Management 

Expertise Lack of appropriate skills 
and experience 

Low Medium Ineffective Management 
Failure to meet regulatory / 
legislative requirements 

Use of appropriate expertise / multi-discipline 
teams including partnership working – in-house, 
partner bodies and contractors / consultants 
Recruitment and Training to secure and enhance 
expertise
Management Plans to guide actions 
Consultation and benchmarking (including Local 
Access Forum, Biodiversity Forum, Friends of 
groups and Site User Group Forums) 

Timescales Timescales not identified 
and / or adhered to 

Low Medium Delays  
Poor quality works 

Management Plans and work programming 

Support Lack of management Low High Ineffective management Inclusion within Corporate Priorities 

77



support (including 
infrastructure) 

Public dissatisfaction 
Failure to meet regulatory / 
legislative requirements  

Efficiency – including Partnership working 

Quality
Standards

Quality Standards such 
as Green Flag status not 
achieved 

Low Medium Objectives not met 
Static or declining visitor 
numbers 

Actions and future management and 
maintenance developed in line with Quality 
standards 
Benchmarking and training - staff with significant 
Green Flag Award experience 
Monitoring 

Legal

Land Ownership Control over land. Low High Lack of control over access to 
and management of green 
space 
Unable to undertake works 
Limits to public benefit 
Inappropriate use of land (e.g. 
fly-tipping)

Securing public ownership and / or legal rights of 
access  
Defining responsibilities 

Statutory
Consents 

Relevant consents not 
obtained 

Low High Works cannot proceed  
Conservation objectives 
compromised 

Actions developed utilising specialist advice e.g. 
English Heritage, Natural England, Development 
Control re planning consent 

78



Appendix 5: Quality Audit Proforma 

49 79



5080



5181



5282



Appendix 6  Quantity Standards 

Current Quantities 

Type of Green Space 
Area (Hectares)  % of Total  Provision Per 

1000
Population

Parks & Gardens 47.27 1.91 0.43

Amenity Greenspace  174.76 7.07 1.59

Natural & Semi-Natural 
Greenspaces 1,429.77 57.81 13.04

Urban Woodlands 73.69 2.98 0.67

Green Corridors  32.34 1.31 0.30

Provision for Children & 
Young People 40.45 1.64 0.37

Outdoor Sports 
Facilities  496.22 20.06 4.53

School Playing Fields 147.45 5.96 1.35

Civic Spaces 0.47 0.02 0.00

Allotments 5.8 0.23 0.05

Cemeteries,
Churchyards  20.59 0.83 0.19

Total 2,473.31 100.00 22.56

N.B.  Not including Incidental Open Space and Highways Verge 

Formal Facilities

The provision of new facilities such as equipped play areas is not necessarily best 
delivered according to a quantitative approach.  A particular concern is that this will 
not reflect population characteristics and could result in low levels of use and poor 
resource allocation.  In addition, it could lead to imbalance with provision over 
supplied in some locations whilst some neighbourhoods may be poorly served. 

The recommendation is that new provision should be properly planned on a site by 
site basis, with a particular focus on accessibility.  The Six Acre Standard provides a 
valuable reference point for this. 

To maintain existing provision, it will be necessary to ensure that there is a pro-rata 
increase commensurate with population increases. 

Projections set out within the Local Development Framework are that Bracknell 
Forest will need to facilitate in excess of 11,000 dwellings between 2006 and 2026.  
Based on household projections previously identified by the (former) Office of the 
Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM), the population of Bracknell Forest is likely to rise by 
between approximately 12,000 and 18,000 residents. 

83



Equipped Play Areas 

Type of Facility Total Number Current Provision 
Per Population

Quantity  

Local Area of 
Play (LAPs)  

18 (74 inc. 
LEAPs and 
NEAPs)

1 per 1481

Local Equipped 
Area of Play 
(LEAPs)

50 (56 inc. 
NEAPs)

1 per 1957

Neighbourhood
Equipped Area 
of Play (NEAPs) 

6 1 per 18270

To be based on 
accessibility  

Sports Pitches, Courts, Greens and Allotments 

Type of Facility Current
Total

Number

Current
Provision
Per
Population

Proposed
Standard

Reason

Outdoor Tennis 
Court

59 1 per 1858 1 per 1850 Based on existing 
provision

5 Rugby 1 per 21923 1 per 21900 Based on existing 
provision

Winter Sports 
Pitches

44 Soccer 1 per 2491 1 per 2500 Based on existing 
provision

Summer Sports 
Pitches

10 Cricket 1 per 10962 1 per 11000 Based on existing 
provision

Bowling Greens  18 rinks 1 per 6090 1 per 6100 Based on existing 
provision

Golf Courses 7 1 per 15660 No standard Commercially
driven facility  

Golf Driving 
Ranges

3 1 per 36539 No standard Commercially
driven facility  

Allotments 305 plots 
(some of 
which are 
half plots

1 per 359 1 per 400 Based on existing 
provision

In terms of pitch provision, it is recommended that (in accordance with national 
standards) local playing fields are available within 1.2 kilometres (three-quarters of a 
mile) of all dwellings in major housing areas to provide opportunities for participation 
in outdoor sports. 

84



Play Areas:  
Summary of criteria used by Bracknell Forest Council in designing new play areas. 

Play Value  
To assess how much fun can be had from the equipment.  This is done by looking at the 
range of experiences provided including balancing, crawling, rocking, gliding, agility, 
rotating, sliding, and swinging.  Extra value is gained from group play.  The use of 
sensory items, variation in materials, variation in ground contours, bright colours, themed 
play, added graphics, ball games areas, and wheeled play areas all add to the Play 
Value.  It is also necessary to assess the amount of extra space on site for other types of 
play such as locomotive play or role play. 

Durability  
To assess the life span of equipment and furniture, taking into account deterioration 
factors (weathering etc), and vandalism resistance. 

Maintenance
To assess the maintenance of fencing, gates and surfacing, surfacing edging, vegetation 
and equipment (including) bolt tightening, staining oiling etc) 

Inspections
To assess how regular the equipment needs to be inspected, the time taken for each 
inspection, and practicalities such as ladder work. 

Visual impact
To assess the relationship to the setting, landscaping, first impressions. 

Inclusiveness
To assess how inclusive the site is with particular reference to the mobility impaired, and 
taking into account how many senses are stimulated within the play area, also assessing 
the age range of the equipment provided. 

Behavioural aspects 
In order to prevent bullying and antisocial behaviour confined spaces and hidden zones 
need to be avoided and extra entrances and exits installed. Flat panels can encourage 
graffiti, so these need to be avoided in certain areas. 

Safety 
 Does the equipment comply with EN1176? Does the equipment type and position suit 
the location? Is shade/ shelter provided? Are toddler and junior areas segregated? How 
open and safe is the site. 

Provision for parents and guardians
Is there social, supervisory and play Provision provided for parents and guardians? 

Cost
Is value for money provided within the scheme? 

Experience of company 
To assess the track record of the company, research references, and our previous 
involvement with the company.  Availability and timescale of providing spares. 

85



Additional Considerations: 

Fencing

Is it needed?  Fencing can reduce instances of dog fouling within a play area.  Fencing 
is also a safety consideration for parents/ guardians with younger children using the site.  
Fencing can also define the formal play space. 

However; fencing (and surfacing) account for more than a third of total expenditure in the 
play area sector.  Significant additional play value opportunities can potentially be 
achieved if fencing is not required.  Added to this, maintenance requirements can be 
greatly reduced. 

If required; 
Experience demonstrates that steel bow top fencing is the most effective.  The 
specification for this should factor in likelihood of vandalism and other damage. 

Colour preference: Black

Gates

2 pedestrian entrances / exits are required along with service access.  Pedestrian 
access gates should have no latch and be self closing (e.g. Monohinge self closing 
gate).  Colour preference is for red and yellow.  The service gate could be combined with 
an access gate.   

Site Furniture

Seating should be provided to encourage social interaction and provide comfort for 
parents/guardians. 

A litter bin should be provided, being carefully located to not obstruct play space.  
Design should consider issues such as ease of use and deterring wildlife (e.g. birds, 
wasps).

Surfacing

Where safety surfacing is required, experience indicates that ‘wet pour’ is the most 
effective.

Colour Scheme: 

Minimal graphics (i.e. just around wear pads) using primary colours.  This will enable 
small repairs to be carried out using standard ‘ready mix’ bags. 

Specific Equipment Requirements

All swings to be anti-wrap. 

86


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Last Meeting and Matters Arising
	3 National and Regional Access Forums
	6 Greenspace Strategy
	Bracknell Forest Green Space Strategy (First Draft) Appendices


